## UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

# ELEMENTS OF A GENETIC FRAMEWORK FOR INCLINED HETEROLITHIC STRATA OF THE McMURRAY FORMATION, NORTHEAST ALBERTA

BY

CURTIS DUANE LETTLEY



# A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIRMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

## DEPARTMENT OF EARTH AND ATMOSPHERIC SCIENCES

EDMONTON, ALBERTA

**FALL 2004** 

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

Patrimoine de l'édition

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada 395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Bibliothèque et

Direction du

Archives Canada

Your file Votre référence ISBN: 0-612-95793-4 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 0-612-95793-4

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing the Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou aturement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis. Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.



## "Between two evils, I always pick the one I never tried before." - Mae West

"The closed mouth gathers no feet." - Chinese proverb

Facts are simple and facts are straight Facts are lazy and facts are late Facts all come with points of view Facts don't do what I want them to Facts just twist the truth around Facts are living turned inside out Facts are getting the best of them Facts are nothing on the face of things Facts don't stain the furniture Facts go out and slam the door Facts are written all over you face Facts continue to change their shape

- from Crosseyed and Painless by the Talking Heads

"Your friend is the man who knows all about you, and still likes you." - Elbert Hubbard

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

This thesis is dedicated the hours of 10 pm to 4 am, without which none of this would have been possible.

#### ACKNOWLEDEMENTS

Over the last two and a half years, many people have made my time in Edmonton productive and enjoyable. From bombing down the Athabasca River on a hovercraft, to driving through Yellowstone National Park or simply hanging around in Edmonton.

Dave Bechtel was instrumental in directing me towards the University of Alberta to work on the Athabasca Oil Sand deposit with George. He also provided the initial idea for this project and lined me up with funding and core from CNRL. A field trip to the Steepbank outcrops and Syncrude's Aurora mine with Dave, Deanne, Chad and Corinne from CNRL helped greatly in putting into perspective what I was seeing in core.

Field excursions with Mike Ranger, Murray Gingras and Bart Blakney strengthened my understanding of stratigraphic relationships within the McMurray. Discussions with Mike, Murray and Bart also helped in identifying weaknesses in my study and focusing attention where it was needed.

Michael Hearn provided lots of welcome diversion from my project. The state of the world was talked up one side and down the other during pizza nights at the Windsor Pub. Trips into the mountains and southern Alberta provided great opportunities to see a lot of rock and bring home a ton of fossils. Mike also provided his own brand of "encouragement" when it came to putting together presentations for conferences.

Encounters with Tom Saunders in the lab never failed to leave me inspired. He provided many ideas related to the burrowing presented in chapter 3, and along with Dwayne Giggs, provided me with my first taste of the Drumheller area. Thanks in large part to Dwayne, I have been an active computer user for the last few years with no major episodes of e-rage. I have also benefited from Dwayne and Laura's hospitality, staying at their house in Calgary during CSPG conventions.

Michelle Spila and Demian Robbins have been a constant help around the lab, showing little tricks to deal with quirky computers, editing abstracts and conversing about this and that. Marilyn Zorn was an immense help in getting chapter 3 into its final form. Before she reviewed it, it was a miss-matched, convolute attempt at pseudopaleontology. Now I have most of my ducks in a row, and it stands a chance of making it through review to be published. Arjun, Cynthia, Scott, Sean, Lynn and Corrine have provided many a fun moment, whether in the lab avoiding work, or on trips to conferences. I will never forget being spoon fed ice cream with driving through the Grand Teton, or being reminded that we wanted to turn left from the paint pots in Yellowstone.

Lisa, Erin, Danielle and Jeff provided lots of welcome diversion from school, and bore the brunt of my warped sense of humor.

Many thanks go to Sue Fleming for organizing my defense at the last minute, a task which was made much more difficult by the time of year. Dr. Charles Stelck and Dr. George Ball acted as reviewers for my defense, again a task hindered by my last minute thesis completion.

And finally, my thanks go out to George. George has provided guidance, encouragement, opportunity to get out amongst the sedimentary geology community, and most importantly, a great group of researchers to interact with.

Funding for this project was provided by Canadian Natural Resources Ltd., with additional support provided through an NSERC PGS-A scholarship and monies from the Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

1

4

7

## **CHAPTER 1 – INTRODUCTION**

## REFERENCES

## CHAPTER 2 – INCLINED HETEROLITHIC STRATA OF THE LOWER CRETACEOUS MCMURRAY FORMATION, NORTHEAST ALBERTA – AN EXAMPLE OF SEDIMENTOLOGIC AND ICHNOLOGIC VARIATION ALONG AN ANCIENT RIVERINE ESTUARY

| INTRODUCTION                                    | 7  |
|---|----|
| THE MCMURRAY FORMATION                          | 7  |
| INCLINED HETEROLITHIC STRATA                    | 12 |
| THE ESTUARINE ENVIRONMENT                       | 16 |
| PHYSICAL ASPECTS OF THE ESTUARINE ENVIRONMENT   | 16 |
| Water Circulation                               | 16 |
| Aggregation of Suspended Fines                  | 17 |
| Concentration and Localized Deposition of Fines | 19 |
| Temporal Variation in Depositional Dynamics     | 20 |
| Morphology                                      | 24 |
| Tidal Channel Morpho-dynamics                   | 26 |
| Channel Migration                               | 31 |
| THE EFFECT OF SYSTEM DYNAMICS ON BENTHOS        | 33 |
| SYNTHESIZED DEPOSITIONAL MODEL                  | 38 |
| OBSERVATIONS AND INTERPRETATIONS                | 41 |

| PURPOSE AND METHOD OF STUDY  | 41  |
|--|-----|
| CHARACTERIZATION OF MCMURRAY FORMATION IHS   | 42  |
| Lithosome A  | 42  |
| Lithosome B  | 48  |
| Lithosome C  | 54  |
| Lithosome D  | 62  |
| Lithosome E  | 71  |
| DISCUSSION   | 80  |
| CYCLICITY OF HETEROLITHIC CHARACTER  | 80  |
| VARIATION IN CHARACTER ALONG A CONCEPTUAL<br>RIVERINE ESTUARY  | 82  |
| FIRM GROUND BURROWING  | 86  |
| FACTORS COMPLICATING THE MODEL   | 90  |
| STACKING OF IHS PACKAGES   | 90  |
| INCISED VALLEY DEPOSITIONAL MODEL  | 94  |
| CONCLUSIONS  | 105 |
| REFERENCES   | 106 |
| CHAPTER 3 – THE MORPHOLOGY AND PALEOENVIRONMENTAL<br>SIGNIFICANCE OF Spirascensus conferti: A PREVIOUSLY<br>UNDESCRIBED HELICAL ICHNOFOSSIL FROM THE LOWER |     |

| INTRODUCTION                            | 113 |
|---|-----|
| STRATIGRAPHIC AND ENVIRONMENTAL SETTING | 113 |
| TAXONOMY                                | 117 |

113

**CRETACEOUS OF WESTERN CANADA** 

| OCCURRENCE  | 121 |
|---|-----|
| MORPHOLOGY OF THE TRACES  | 121 |
| ORGANIZED COMMUNAL STRUCTURE                                    | 127 |
| DISCUSSION  | 132 |
| BEHAVIOR OF THE TRACE MAKERS                                    | 132 |
| Helical Burrow Morphology                                       | 132 |
| Separation of the Sediment into Granular and<br>Muddy Fractions | 134 |
| Community Behavior  | 136 |
| COMPARISON WITH OTHER HELICAL ICHNOFOSSILS                      | 137 |
| INTEGRATED TROPHIC MODEL  | 138 |
| ANALOGOUS MODERN BURROWING AND POSSIBLE<br>TRACE MAKERS         | 141 |
| CONCLUSIONS   | 142 |
| REFERENCES  | 144 |
|   |     |

**CHAPTER 4 – CONCLUSIONS** 

## LIST OF TABLES

| Table 2.1 | - Comparison of morphologic and dynamic characteristics of fluvial and tidal channels | 27 |
|-----------|---|----|
| Table 2.2 | - Compilation of the thicknesses and dips of IHS sets                                 | 30 |
| Table 2.3 | - Comparison of the character observed in each of the IHS lithosomes                  | 83 |

## LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure 1.1  | - Oil sand and heavy oil deposits of western Canada  | 2  |
|-------------|--|----|
| Figure 1.2  | - Location of cored area and outcrops featured in this study   | 3  |
| Figure 2.1  | - Location of the study area   | 8  |
| Figure 2.2  | - Stratigraphic framework of the McMurray Formation  | 10 |
| Figure 2.3  | - Inferred paleotopography of the sub-Cretaceous unconformity surface  | 11 |
| Figure 2.4  | - Nomenclature used in the description of IHS sets   | 13 |
| Figure 2.5  | - The classification of estuaries based on patterns of internal water circulation  | 18 |
| Figure 2.6  | - The dynamics of tidal transport in an estuarine channel  | 21 |
| Figure 2.7  | - Seasonal variation in turbidity maximum behavior   | 23 |
| Figure 2.8  | - The relationship between water surface elevation and flow velocity in fluvial and tidal channels                             | 26 |
| Figure 2.9  | - Aerial photograph of salt-marsh surface  | 28 |
| Figure 2.10 | - Variations in the pattern of channel migration related to bounding conditions  | 32 |
| Figure 2.11 | - Anisotropic erosional susceptibility of IHS with cohesive mud beds   | 34 |
| Figure 2.12 | - Tidal variation in salinity of the water column and sediment pore space  | 35 |
| Figure 2.13 | - Effects of salinity variation within the Ogeechee River-<br>Ossabaw Sound estuary  | 37 |
| Figure 2.14 | - Contrast in estuarine circulation, sedimentation and<br>biologic stresses between periods of low and high<br>river discharge | 40 |
| Figure 2.15 | - Character of Lithosome A   | 44 |

| Figure 2.16 | - Character of Lithosome A  | 47 |
|-------------|---|----|
| Figure 2.17 | - Character of Lithosome B  | 50 |
| Figure 2.18 | - Character of Lithosome B  | 53 |
| Figure 2.19 | - Character of Lithosome C  | 56 |
| Figure 2.20 | - Character of Lithosome C  | 59 |
| Figure 2.21 | - Character of Lithosome C  | 61 |
| Figure 2.22 | - Character of Lithosome D  | 65 |
| Figure 2.23 | - Character of Lithosome D  | 67 |
| Figure 2.24 | - Character of Lithosome D  | 69 |
| Figure 2.25 | - Character of Lithosome E  | 73 |
| Figure 2.26 | - Character of Lithosome E  | 76 |
| Figure 2.27 | - Character of Lithosome E  | 78 |
| Figure 2.28 | - Diagramatic representation of the spatio-temporal link<br>of depositional style within the riverine estuary | 85 |
| Figure 2.29 | - Examples of firm ground burrowing   | 87 |
| Figure 2.30 | - Stages in the generation of a firm ground burrow suite  | 88 |
| Figure 2.31 | - Stages in the generation of a scoured mud surface in the estuarine channel                                  | 89 |
| Figure 2.32 | - Relation of channelized environments to the model   | 91 |
| Figure 2.33 | - The overwhelming of tributary channel systems by the main riverine channel                                  | 92 |
| Figure 2.34 | - Drainage provenance areas feeding the McMurray Subbasin   | 93 |
| Figure 2.35 | - Erosional contact between megaripple bedded sand and IHS in outcrop   | 96 |
| Figure 2.36 | - Discontinuities within a succession of IHS in outcrop   | 98 |

| Figure 2.37 | - Comparison of the deep channel and incised valley fill models                        | 102 |
|-------------|--|-----|
| Figure 2.38 | - Restriction of channel migration within and entrenched valley                        | 104 |
| Figure 3.1  | - Geographic and stratigraphic situation of examined burrowing                         | 114 |
| Figure 3.2  | - Channel bank accretion deposits pervasively burrowed by minute, helical ichnofossils | 115 |
| Figure 3.3  | - Model for the accumulation of inclined heterolithic strata                           | 116 |
| Figure 3.4  | - Rooting and phytoturbation at the top of an IHS set                                  | 119 |
| Figure 3.5  | - Mud filled Spirascensus conferti within sandy host sediment                          | 124 |
| Figure 3.6  | - Sand filled S. conferti within muddy host sediment                                   | 126 |
| Figure 3.7  | - Transitional expression of S. conferti   | 129 |
| Figure 3.8  | - Characteristics of burrow fabric   | 131 |
| Figure 3.9  | - Interface between successive generations of burrowing                                | 133 |
| Figure 3.10 | - Effect of population density on burrow fabric  | 136 |
| Figure 3.11 | - Integrated trophic model   |     |

#### **CHAPTER 1 - INTRODUCTION**

Lower Cretaceous strata in western Canada host several major unconventional petroleum deposits. These include the Athabasca, Peace River, and Cold Lake Oil Sands, and the Lloydminster district heavy oil deposit (Fig. 1.1). The Athabasca Oil Sands comprise the largest of these deposits, with in place bitumen reserves estimated at 1.3 trillion barrels (ERCB, 1990). Most of the Athabasca deposit (894 x  $10^9$  bbl) is contained within loosely consolidated deposits of the McMurray Formation and within the overlying Wabiskaw Member of the Albian Clearwater Formation.

Production from the Athabasca deposit has been building since commercial development first began in the late 1960's, and currently accounts for 31% of Canada's oil production (C.A.P.P. website). Numerous new surface and subsurface oil sands projects are in development and, as in situ techniques of bitumen recovery become more refined, development of this resource will flourish.

The McMurray Formation is stratigraphically complex, consisting primarily of sandy and heterolithic siliciclastics within an inadequately understood genetic framework. The Formation has been informally divided into lower, middle and upper units (Carrigy, 1959) reflecting dominantly continental, estuarine and shoreline deposition, repectively (Ranger and Gingras, 2003).

Within the estuarine middle McMurray, inclined heterolithic strata (IHS) comprise a major facies, and are commonly found in association with sand-rich facies targeted as highly productive bitumen reservoirs. The IHS deposits are sedimentologically complex, and a proper understanding of their genetic aspects has been elusive.

Carrigy (1971) interpreted IHS within the McMurray Formation as foreset deposits of small, Gilbert-type deltas prograding northward into a standing lacustrine or lagoonal body. Mossop and Flach (1983) proposed deposition through the action of deep (20 - 45 m) meandering fluvial channels. An estuarine channel interpretation was introduced by Stewart and MacCallum (1978), and later supported by the ichnological



Figure 1.1. Oil sand and heavy oil deposits of western Canada. From Ranger and Gingras (2003).

work of Pemberton et al. (1982), and comparative work in modern settings by Smith (1987, 1988a, 1988b). Subsequently, a number of studies have built upon the estuarine interpretation of middle McMurray sedimentation (e.g. Fox, 1988; Ranger and Pemberton, 1992; Bechtel et al., 1994; Ranger, 1994; Yuill, 1995; Bechtel, 1996; Ranger and Pemberton, 1997; Wightman and Pemberton, 1997; Harris, 2003).

While IHS deposits of the McMurray Formation have received cursory attention in many studies, little has been done to characterize their fine scale aspects and classify the variation exhibited between occurrences. The application of a "mud-dominated" versus "sand-dominated" classification has been used by many studying the McMurray Formation. Deposit character, however, exhibits far more complexity and variation than can be accommodated in such a rudimentary scheme. Some researchers have attempted to refine the basic estuarine channel depositional model, introducing depositional characteristics identified through the investigation of modern estuarine systems (e.g. Ranger and Pemberton, 1992; Bechtel et al., 1994). In these studies, contrasting position along a riverine estuary has been suggested as the impetus behind the variable lithic character of the IHS, with the heterolithic nature of the sediment being attributed to temporal shifts in the locus of suspension deposition.

In order to advance understanding of the McMurray Formation's genetic and





stratigraphic aspects, a more thorough treatment of the IHS is needed. A detailed understanding of these deposits is of particular importance for in situ development, as heterogeneous elements play a key role in the proper modeling and gainful exploitation of subsurface reservoirs.

This study was undertaken to characterize and classify IHS within the McMurray Formation, and insomuch as is feasible, interpret the depositional controls of sediment character. The bulk of information gathered came from the subsurface, using drill cores from the Horizon Project oil sands lease of Canadian Natural Resources Limited (Fig. 1.2). Several additional cores from outside of this area were examined to help characterize a distinctive bioturbate texture encountered during the course of the study. In all, intervals of twenty-eight well cores were examined, representing approximately 900

m of logged section. To supplement core work, numerous outcrops along Sappree Creek, and the Athabasca, Hangingstone, Horse, McKay and Steepbank Rivers were visited, although no regimented campaign of fieldwork was undertaken.

#### REFERENCES

- Bechtlel, D.J., 1996, The stratigraphic succession and paleoenvironmental interpretation of the McMurray Formation, O.S.L.O. area, northeastern Alberta: Unpublished M.Sc. thesis, University of Alberta, Edmonton, 153 p.
- Bechtel, D.J., C.N. Yuill, M.J. Ranger and S.G. Pemberton, 1994, Ichnology of inclined heterolithic stratification of the McMurray Formation, northeastern Alberta: *in* Pemberton, S.G., D.P. James, and D.M. Wightman (eds.), Mannville Core Conference, Canadian Society of Petroleum Geologists Exploration Update, p.351-368.
- Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers, (no date), Canadian crude oil production and supply forecast: retrieved August 2, 2004, from <u>http://www.capp.ca/</u> <u>default.asp?V\_DOC\_ID=688</u>
- Carrigy, M.A., 1959, Geology of the McMurray Formation, Part III, general geology of the McMurray area: Alberta Research Council, Memoir I, 130 p.
- Carrigy, M.A., 1971, Deltaic sedimentation in Athabasca Tar Sands: American Association of Petroleum Geologists Bulletin, v. 55, p. 1155-1169
- E.R.C.B., 1990, Crude bitumen reserves atlas, 4<sup>th</sup> edition: Energy Resources Conservation Board, Calgary, 76 p.
- Fox, A.J., 1988, The Lower Cretaceous McMurray Formation in the subsurface of Syncrude Oil Sands Lease 17, Athabasca oil sands, northeastern Alberta – a physical sedimentological study in an area of exceptional drill core control: Unpublished M.Sc. thesis, University of Alberta, Edmonton, 464 p.

- Harris, C.R.E, 2003, Aspects of the sedimentology, ichnology, stratigraphy, and reservoir character of the McMurray Formation, northeast Alberta: Unpublished M.Sc. thesis, University of Alberta, Edmonton, 209 p.
- Mossop, G.D. and P.D. Flach, 1983, Deep channel sedimentation in the Lower Cretaceous McMurray Formation, Athabasca Oil Sands, Alberta. Sedimentology, v. 30, p. 493-509.
- Pemberton, S.G., P.D. Flach and G.D. Mossop, 1982, Trace fossils from the Athabasca Oil Sands, Alberta, Canada: Science, v. 217, p. 825-827.
- Ranger, M.J., 1994, A basin study of the southern Athabasca oil sands deposit: Unpublished Ph.D. thesis, University of Alberta, Edmonton, 290 p.
- Ranger, M.J. and M.K. Gingras, 2003, Geology of the Athabasca Oil Sands field guide and overview: Canadian Society of Petroleum Geologists, Calgary, 123 p.
- Ranger, M.J. and S.G. Pemberton, 1992, The sedimentology and ichnology of estuarine point bars in the McMurray Formation of the Athabasca Oil Sands deposit, northeastern Alberta, Canada: *in* Pemberton, S.G. (ed.), Applications of ichnology to petroleum exploration. Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists, core workshop no. 17, p. 401-421.
- Ranger, M.J. and S.G. Pemberton, 1997, Elements of a stratigraphic framework for the McMurray Formation in south Athabasca area, Alberta: *in* Pemberton, S.G. and D.P. James (eds.), Petroleum geology of the Cretaceous Mannville Group, western Canada. Canadian Society of Petroleum Geologists, Memoir 18, p. 263-291.
- Ranger, M.J. and M.K. Gingras, 2003, Geology of the Athabasca Oil Sands field guide and overview: Canadian Society of Petroleum Geologists, Calgary 123 p.
- Smith, D.G., 1987, Meandering river point bar lithofacies models Modern and ancient examples compared: *in* Etheridge, F.G., R.M. Flores and M.D. Harvey (eds.), Recent developments in fluvial sedimentology. Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists special paper #39, p. 83-91.

- Smith, D.G., 1988a, Tidal bundles and mud couplets in the McMurray Formation, northeastern Alberta, Canada: Bulletin of Canadian Petroleum Geology, v. 36, p. 216-219.
- Smith, D.G., 1988b, Modern point bar deposits analogous to the Athabasca Oil Sands,
  Alberta, Canada: *in* de Boer, P.L., A. van Gelder and S.D. Nio (eds.), Tideinfluenced sedimentary environments and facies. Reidel Publishing Company, p. 417-432.
- Stewart, G.A. and G.T. MacCallum, 1978, Athabasca Oil Sands guide book: CSPG international conference, facts and principles of world oil occurrence, Canadian Society of Petroleum Geologists, Calgary, Alberta, 33 p.
- Wightman, D.M. and S.G. Pemberton, 1997, The Lower Cretaceous (Aptian) McMurray Formation - An overview of the Fort McMurray area, northeastern Alberta: *in* Pemberton, S.G. and D.P. James (eds.), Petroleum geology of the Cretaceous Mannville Group, western Canada. Canadian Society of Petroleum Geologists, Memoir 18, p. 312-344.
- Yuill, C.N., 1995, Sedimentology, stratigraphy, and ichnology of the McMurray
   Formation, northeastern Alberta: Unpublished M.Sc. thesis, University of Alberta,
   Edmonton, 135 p.

# CHAPTER 2 - INCLINED HETEROLITHIC STRATA OF THE LOWER CRETACEOUS MCMURRAY FORMATION, NORTHEASTERN ALBERTA – AN EXAMPLE OF SEDIMENTOLOGIC AND ICHNOLOGIC VARIATION ALONG AN ANCIENT RIVERINE ESTUARY

#### INTRODUCTION

#### THE MCMURRAY FORMATION

The Athabasca Oil Sand deposit of northeast Alberta (Fig. 2.1) is truly one of Canada's greatest natural resources. With estimated in place bitumen reserves of approximately 900 billion barrels (Wightman and Pemberton, 1997), it is possibly the largest single accumulation of hydrocarbons in the world. Development has historically been hampered by engineering problems related to the high weight and viscosity of the oil (Carrigy, 1971). Both the private and public sectors have sponsored considerable research to overcome many of the developmental challenges associated with the deposit. Commercial exploitation has been building since the late 1960's. Production of 273 000 barrels from the deposit accounted for 16% of the nation's total oil production in 1995, and is expected to rise considerably through the foreseeable future (Wightman and Pemberton, 1997).

Within the deposit, the Lower Cretaceous (Aptian and older) (Stelck and Kramers, 1980) siliciclastic McMurray Formation forms the most volumetrically significant portion of the reservoir. Owing to relatively shallow burial (not more than 500' greater than present) (Nelson and Glaister, 1978), the McMurray Formation has undergone little diagenetic alteration. Accordingly, reservoir character is largely dictated by primary sediment character (Mossop and Flach, 1983), and an understanding of the depositional framework of the McMurray Formation is key to its gainful exploitation.

7

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



**Figure 2.1.** Location of the study area. (A) The Athabasca Oil Sand deposit is located in northeast Alberta, and is one to three such deposits in the province. From Ranger and Gingras (2003). (B) This study focuses on core retrieved from Canadian Natural Resource Limited's Oil Sand development lease in Townships 96 & 97, Ranges 11 - 13 W4. Additional data has been gained through examination of outcrop along the Steepbank and Athabasca Rivers. Modified from Wightman and Pemberton (1997).

The McMurray Formation is riddled with stratigraphic complexity; while extensively drilled, and locally exceeding 100 m in thickness, no formal internal division has been developed. Indeed, facies correlation over distances of as little as several hundred metres can be challenging. Most of the resource must be developed using in situ production techniques, as only approximately 10% of the deposit can be accessed through surface mining (Wightman and Pemberton, 1997; Ranger and Gingras, 2003). In comparison with surface development, in situ production requires a more detailed understanding of reservoir elements, their spatial and genetic relationships, and their behavior under production conditions.

The McMurray Formation comprises the basal portion of the Lower Cretaceous Mannville Group in northeastern Alberta. It lies directly on Devonian carbonates, which subcrop along the sub-Cretaceous unconformity surface (Fig. 2.2). Prior to deposition of the McMurray Formation, the exposed carbonate terrane was subject to differential erosion, which created a broad valley known as the McMurray subbasin (Fig. 2.3). This broad trough was bounded to the east by the Precambrian Shield and to the west by resistant reefal carbonates of the Grosmont Formation (Stewart and MacCallum, 1978). The generation of the McMurray Subbasin was greatly influenced through the solution removal of Elk Point Group evaporites, and structural collapse of the overlying Beaverhill Lake Group. Salt solution and structural collapse continued through the deposition of the McMurray Formation, and are thought to remain active today.

Through the Aptian and Albian, the pulsed transgression of the Boreal Sea (Ranger and Pemberton, 1997) led to the filling and eventual overtopping of the McMurray paleo-valley with clastic sediments of the McMurray and Clearwater Formations. The McMurray Formation has been informally divided into lower, middle and upper members (Carrigy, 1959), loosely reflecting continental, estuarine and shoreline depositional environments respectively (Ranger and Gingras, 2003). Sediment was fed to the McMurray Subbasin through a major continental drainage system



**Figure 2.2.** Stratigraphic framework of the McMurray Formation. (A) Stratigraphy of the Lower Cretaceous within north-central Alberta. From Ranger and Gingras (2003). (B) Informal stratigraphic subdivision within the McMurray Formation, and associated lithic character. From Mossop and Flach (1983).



Figure 2.3. Inferred paleotopography of the sub-Cretaceous unconformity surface, as expressed by the thickness of the McMurray Formation and its stratigraphic equivalents. Note the presence of several subbasins, separated by highlands of resistant carbonates. Courtesy of Michael Ranger. entering from the southeast, as well as regional drainage systems shedding off the carbonate highlands to the west and the Precambrian shield to the east. Deposition of the marginal marine McMurray Formation continued while the ridges of resistant carbonate limited Mannville Group deposition to several isolated subbasins. As these highs were overtopped, subareally exposed source areas were lost and less restricted marine circulation came into effect. Deposition of the McMurray Formation was then superceded by glauconitic shoreface sandstone and basinal mudstone of the Clearwater Formation.

## INCLINED HETEROLITHIC STRATA

The term Inclined Heterolithic Stratification (IHS) was introduced by Thomas et al. (1987) as a descriptor for heterogeneous deposits which exhibit notable primary dip. Prior to this, numerous clumsy, often genetically suggestive terms had been applied to such deposits (e.g. epsilon cross-stratification, lateral accretion bedding). While "the overwhelming majority are the products of point bar lateral accretion within meandering channels" (Thomas et al., 1987), IHS may also be generated through progradation of Gilbert-type deltas and suspension fall-out onto existing slopes. Along with the term IHS came a system of nomenclature for describing the features internal to an IHS set, and the relationships between sets (Fig. 2.4).

IHS deposits have been examined in of both modern depositional environments (e.g. Smith, 1988a; de Mobray, 1983) and the rock record (e.g. Rahmani, 1988; Wood; 1989; Eberth, 1996; Lavigne, 1999). Most examples have been attributed to point bar accretion from tidally influenced channels.

Within the McMurray Formation, IHS forms a major component of the estuarine middle member, occurring in successions locally exceeding 40 m in thickness. Such successions may be composed wholly of IHS, or may contain both IHS and an underlying, loosely associated facies of clean, megaripple bedded sand. The IHS itself is typically composed of interbedded sand and mud in varying proportions, exhibiting primary dips of  $2^{\circ} - 20^{\circ}$ .



Figure 2.4. Nomenclature used in the description of IHS sets, their constituents, and their relationship. Modified after Thomas et al. (1987).

Carrigy (1971) presented the first notable work concerning the genesis of McMurray Formation IHS. It was his opinion that the IHS successions had formed as the foresets of Gilbert-type deltas prograding into a lacustrine or lagoonal setting. This interpretation did not, however, stand up to detailed outcrop examination.

Working individually and collaboratively, Mossop and Flach (Mossop, 1980; Mossop and Flach, 1983; Flach and Mossop, 1985) developed a coastal plain interpretation for McMurray Formation deposition. This model linked rising sea level in the Boreal Sea (encroaching from the north) to a change in fluvial depositional character from moderately deep, coarse-grained, braided channels to deep (20 - 45 m), fine-grained, meandering channels.

Largely through outcrop examination, they identified several key features supporting a channel mode of deposition. Among these features were: a scoured base to the megarippled sands, an overall fining- and muddying-upwards profile through the successions, paleoflow perpendicular to the dip in the IHS, and continuity of bedding through the transition between the IHS sets and the underlying sands. The megaripple bedded sands were taken to be the deposits of large-scale bedforms migrating on the channel bed, while the overlying IHS reflected the lateral accretion of a contemporaneous point bar. Within the IHS sets, the coarse member sand beds were believed to have formed under fluvial flood conditions, and the fine member silty partings under intervening low flow conditions. While the scale of the depositional channels and continuity of bedding between the IHS packages and underlying sands, and indeed within the IHS packages themselves, remain contentious issues (Ranger and Gingras, 2003), the reasoning of Mossop and Flach represented a major step forward.

Mossop (1980) noted that 'meander belts' of these middle McMurray channels are amongst the thickest and richest pay zones encountered in the Athabasca deposit. The basal megarippled facies is composed of clean, moderately well-sorted sands, as are the coarse members within the IHS, albeit with reduced grade due to the presence of the silty

partings.

The first researchers to assert an estuarine interpretation for the bulk of McMurray Formation deposition were Stewart and MacCallum (1978). Although thin on evidence, their field guide presented many ideas that are still considered valid today. Within an overall trangressive system, they indicated that repeated fluctuation of sea level drove conditions to vary between fluvial and estuarine, with IHS deposition taking place on the accretionary banks of estuarine channels. Stewart and MacCallum (1978) proposed that the bulk of the mature sand contained within the McMurray Formation was sourced from the Proterozoic Athabasca sandstone of the Precambrian Shield and Jurassic sands to the south.

Several studies have since built a solid case for a tidally influenced, brackish channel depositional model for the middle McMurray IHS complexes. These studies have focused on sedimentological and ichnological lines of evidence (e.g. Pemberton et al, 1982; Smith, 1988b; Ranger and Pemberton, 1992; Bechtel et al., 1994), as well as on the identification of modern estuarine channels depositing analogous packages of sediment (Smith, 1987; 1988a). Core based study of McMurray Formation IHS successions has demonstrated a greater variation in IHS depositional character than is readily observed in outcrop (e.g. Bechtel et al, 1994). IHS packages vary in style from those dominated by clean sand beds, to those composed almost exclusively of silty mud. Similarly, variation is seen in the abundance and nature of biogenic structure within the sediment. This variation has been attributed to contrasting positions within a channelized estuarine system, which would lead to differing influence of saltwater intrusion and suspended load deposition (Ranger and Pemberton, 1992). The heterogeneous character within the IHS has been attributed to spatial shifts in the freshwater-saltwater interface and associated highly turbid water (Bechtel et al., 1994). The temporal scale of these shifts has not, however, been clearly demonstrated.

## THE ESTUARINE ENVIRONMENT

Dalrymple et al. (1992) define an estuary as: the seaward portion of a drowned valley system which receives sediment from both fluvial and marine sources and which contains facies influenced by tide, wave and fluvial processes. Frey and Howard (1986) define an estuarine sequence as: a complex of intertidal and shallow subtidal, mostly channel-form intracoastal facies dominated to some extent by tidal processes, exhibiting conspicuous variations in sediment texture, composition, and provenance, and in physical and biogenic sedimentary structures.

From the first definition, it is apparent that estuaries are generated during transgression, when the creation of accommodation space outpaces the influx of continentally derived sediment, and thus are geologically ephemeral features. An estuary acts as a depositional sink, fixing sediment sourced from both fluvial and marine ends of the system. Estuaries have high depositional budgets influenced through two broad processes: water circulation patterns that promote the transport of sediment from both ends of the system towards a central area of minimal energy, and the conversion of fluvial suspended load into aggregates.

From the second definition, it is apparent that estuarine deposits contain great internal variation of character, reflecting variation in sediment input and depositional processes within estuarine systems. The deposits of estuaries may appear chaotic at first glance. If deposit character can be systematically assigned to subenvironments within an estuary, however, a clear spatio-temporal framework for deposition may be resolvable.

## PHYSICAL ASPECTS OF THE ESTUARINE ENVIRONMENT Water Circulation

Estuarine water circulation patterns have traditionally been divided into three classes based on the degree of interaction between fresh and saline water. Circulation within estuaries is driven by a combination of fluvial inflow, tidal forcing, wind generated turbulence and density contrasts related to differing salinity. The basics of classification

are presented here, for a more in-depth treatment, the reader is directed to Dyer (1986).

In the first circulation type, a salt wedge estuary (Fig. 2.5A), little hydraulic forcing is exerted from the marine end of the system (i.e. minimal tidal flow). As a result, fresh water introduced from the fluvial source flows overtop of a relatively stable wedge of higher density saline water, with little mixing taking place between the two bodies. In this type of system, flow within the estuary is dominated by a steadily decaying seaward current in the fresh upper layer.

The second type of estuary, termed a partially mixed estuary, is common where continental drainage and tides both exert appreciable influence (Fig. 2.5B). This appears to have been the case with systems acting during the deposition of the middle McMurray Formation. Turbulent flow associated with tidal forcing leads to the mixing of fresh and saline water along their interface. As saline water is mixed into the upper, fresher flow, and carried seaward, additional saline water must flow landward along the base of the estuary to replace it. This sets up a situation in which time-averaged, residual currents along the bottom are convergent towards the landward limit of saline water intrusion. Both density driven circulation and salinity stratification are enhanced during times of heightened fresh water influx.

In cases where tidal energy dominates over fluvial energy a well mixed estuary results (Fig. 2.5C). In this type of estuary, nearly complete vertical mixing of the water column takes place, and salinity variation is set up horizontally rather than vertically. Flood and ebb flows commonly follow separate pathways, influenced by the Coriolis effect and inherited estuary form.

## Aggregation of Suspended Fines

Within estuaries, fine suspended load material introduced from continental drainage comes together to form agglomerated "grains", which are much more disposed to deposition than their constituent particles. The aggregation of fines takes place through

## Salt Wedge Estuary



\_\_\_\_\_ line of no net horizontal flow

Figure 2.5. The classification of estuaries based on their patterns of internal water circulation. (A) Salt wedge estuaries are typical of coasts that experience minimal tidal range. (B) Partially mixed estuaries form where both fluvial and tidal forcing exert appreciable influence on water movement. (C) Well mixed circulation is typical of estuaries experiencing considerable tidal influence, but little fluvial influx.

two processes: flocculation and biogenic packaging.

Salinity flocculation occurs as a result of the interaction of clay particles and dissolved ions in saline solutions. Clay particles are rimmed by unsatisfied bonds and as a result of the coulombic force repel each other in chemically neutral media such as fresh water. When dissolved ions are introduced to the system (e.g. through mixing with saline water), cations in the solution form a buffering layer along the face of the clay particles. This suppresses the coulombic force and allows the particles to come together as a result of the attractive Van der Waals force. Suspended clay matter then assembles to form loose aggregates, known as flocs, which behave hydraulically as particles larger

than their constituents. Through this process fine suspended particles can attain a critical mass and settle from the water column. Most flocculation takes place at salinities of less than 3 parts per thousand, or approximately one tenth that of seawater (Meade, 1972). For a more thorough outline of the process of salt flocculation and its controls, the reader is directed to Pryor (1975), Kranck (1981), and Dyer (1986). Flocculation also takes place as a result of the interaction of suspended fines and organic compounds (Meade, 1972), although this process is complex and its controls are poorly understood.

The agglomeration of suspended particulate material may also take place through the action of suspension feeding organisms. Both benthic and planktonic filter feeders contribute to this process through the production of feces and pseudofeces (material ejected prior to ingestion). Fecal pellets are typically densely packed, resistant to abrasion and composed dominantly of inorganic material. The size and shape of the pellets vary greatly with the type and size of producing organism. Pellets often behave hydrodynamically as sand grains in bedload transport (Pryor, 1975). The depositional significance of pellet production is variable, but is often substantial (Frey and Howard, 1986). Pryor (1975) showed that filter feeding *Callianassa* shrimp can produce pellets at rates equivalent to an annual accumulation of 0.5–14 cm, depending on the density of their colonization.

While the agglomeration of suspended fines allows suspended material to settle from the water column, deposition is often short-lived, with fluctuations in energy leading to common re-entrainment and redistribution.

#### Concentration and Localized Deposition of Fines

Within modern estuaries, a localized zone of highly turbid water is often present. This zone of high suspended load is referred to as the Turbidity Maximum and is common in mesotidal and macrotidal estuaries exhibiting a partially mixed character (Meade, 1972; Allen et al, 1980; Kranck, 1981; Gelfenbaum, 1983; Dyer, 1986; and

Ciffroy et al., 2003). The generation and maintenance of the turbidity maximum is facilitated through a combination tidal current asymmetry and density circulation.

When tidal forcing dominates over density driven circulation (i.e. when fluvial influx is low), fines are commonly concentrated landward of the salinity node, near the limit of tidal flow reversal due to an asymmetry of tidal flow (Postma, 1967). In the upper reaches of a tidally affected system, the dynamics of tidal flow are typically altered from sinusoidal rise and fall into an asymmetric pattern characterized by a shortened, more energetic flood tide and a longer lived, subdued ebb tide (Fig. 2.6A). This generates a situation in which total shear is greater during flood flow, resulting in greater erosion and transport of fines. In addition to the more intense flood tide, the flood slack period is longer than the ebb slack period, leading to greater deposition from suspension. The combination of these two factors leads to a time-averaged landward transport of material towards the tidal node (Fig. 2.6B).

When density circulation dominates over tidal forcing (i.e. when fluvial influx is high), fines are commonly concentrated near the salinity node, where residual bottom currents converge. As fluvially sourced suspended material enters the estuary, a combination of declining flow velocity (related to widening of the channel system) and aggregation (due to salinity flocculation and increased biologic activity) causes most of the suspended load to descend into the bottom, landward directed current, where it is carried back up the system. In the vicinity of the density node, the fines are deposited due to a combination of reduced energy and extreme suspended load concentration, or recycled back into upper, seaward flow (see Fig. 2.5B).

#### Temporal Variation in Depositional Dynamics

Sediment transport and deposition within an estuarine system are by no means steady processes. Indeed, variation takes place on several temporal scales, and can be readily followed by tracking the behavior of the turbidity maximum.



**Figure 2.6.** The dynamics of tidal transport in an estuarine channel. (A) Landward distortion of the 'tidal wave' within the Gironde estuary. This phenomenon leads to a short, intense flood tide and a longer, weaker ebb tide. From Allen et al. (1980). (B) The cycle of suspended load transport within the Daule River estuary. Note that a greater concentration of fines is entrained by the flood tide than the ebb tide. This leads to the time-averaged landward transport of fine-grained material. From Allen et al. (1980).

On the diurnal scale, the position and sediment load of the turbidity maximum are seen to evolve with the tidal flow cycle. Gelfenbaum (1983) showed that within the mesotidal Columbia River estuary, during periods of low fluvial inflow, the turbidity maximum made semidiurnal excursions of approximately 20 km up and down the system. In the macrotidal Aulne estuary, Allen et al. (1980) observed not only migration of the turbidity maximum, but also deposition from, and resuspension into it on a semidiurnal cycle.

On the fortnightly scale, the strength of tidal flow is seen to rise and fall. As a result, the ability of the flow to entrain and transport sediment rises and falls in concert. With respect to fines transport, spring tides are characterized by high erosional capacity, and high suspended load within the turbidity maximum. During neap tides, reduced flow strength leads to reduced erosional capacity, declining suspended load, and large scale deposition of fines. In the Gironde estuary, pools of fluid mud accumulate in lows during neap tides, only to be resuspended during the following spring tide (Allen et al., 1980). The range over which the turbidity maximum migrates during its semidiurnal excursion should also vary fortnightly as a result of changes in the volume of tidal exchange.

On the seasonal scale, the position and behavior of the turbidity maximum vary in relation to fluvial discharge and associated changes in water circulation dynamics (Allen et al., 1980; Uncles and Stephens, 1993). During low fluvial discharge, the generation and maintenance of the turbidity maximum is influenced mainly by tidal processes. This results in a diurnally migrating turbidity maximum that is found just seaward of the limit of tidal reversal (Fig. 2.7). During high fluvial discharge, density circulation drives the maintenance of the turbidity maximum. It is located in the vicinity of the density node, which has been displaced seaward from its low fluvial discharge position. Because density circulation dominates over tidal pumping, the turbidity maximum becomes a more stable feature (both in location and concentration), through which a high yield of suspended matter is transferred to the bed of the estuary. Meade (1972) noted the



Figure 2.7 Seasonal variation in the location and behavior of the turbidity maximum within a partially mixed estuary. After Allen et al. (1980).
accumulation of fluid mud at the convergence of bottom water flow (salinity or density node) in association with high fluvial inflow, and the migration of this zone in association with changes in river discharge.

The dynamics of estuarine circulation and deposition also vary on an inter-annual basis as a result of low recurrence storm events. Such events lead to a complex evolution of water circulation processes, as the estuary is shocked by both a marine storm surge and subsequent extreme fluvial discharge. Nichols (1977) chronicled the response of the Rappahannock estuary to Tropical Storm Agnes.

#### Morphology

The mouths of many river systems are subject to tidal influence, owing to the tidal exchange of water within their intertidal channel reach. Such riverine estuaries typically display a tripartite zonation with respect to the plan form of the channel, commonly referred to as "straight-meandering-straight" morphology (Dalrymple et al., 1992). Moving upstream from the inlet, a fairly straight reach, characterized by mid channel and alternate, bank attached bars, passes into a highly sinuous reach exhibiting active channel migration. The high sinuousity reach then gives way to another low sinuousity reach as tidal influence dies out and fluvial influence dominates. In systems where the fluvial system feeding the estuary has a sinuous character itself, the estuary will exhibit a "straight-meandering" morphology (Eberth, 1996).

This morphologic character is seen in many modern estuaries, such as the South Alligator River and Ord River systems in Australia (Coleman and Wright, 1978; Woodroffe et al., 1989). While the rate of lateral accretion is greatest in the sinuous meandering zone, the growth of accretionary banks is also significant towards the fluvial end of the system, as well as in the outer, low sinuousity reach (Dellapenna et al., 2003).

The generation of a discrete zone of meandering within the channelized system appears to be an expression of the convergence of sediment transport within the system.

Dalrymple et al. (1992) noted that the zone of greatest meandering is associated with minimum sediment grain size and minimum total energy within the system. Typically this meandering zone is located upstream of tidal flat overbank deposition, in an area characterized by fluvial/alluvial overbank (Wright et al., 1975; Woodroffe et al., 1989; Allen, 1991).

The length of a riverine estuary is largely a function of coastal slope and tidal range, with relative length of the fluvial-dominated and tide-dominated reaches being a function of the balance between fluvial discharge and volume of the tidal prism (Dalrymple et al., 1992). The cross-sectional area of the channel decreases upstream as a result of the upstream decrease in tidal flux. This trend in cross-sectional area is coupled with a landward decrease in the radius of curvature through the meandering reach. While the systematic variation of cross-sectional area is seen in "graded" systems, some systems (e.g. the York River) (Dellapenna et al., 2003) have an anomalously deep and wide outer reach, characterized by greatly reduced rates of bank accretion. Such deviation from an equilibrium state may be a function of inherited, under-filled valley form. The general upstream shallowing of a riverine estuary is often punctuated by local over-deepening of the channel (leading to channel depths double or more that of the norm) due to excessive scour in areas of extreme curvature and confluence of tributary systems.

Transition in the character of overbank material is also seen along the estuarine channel. Near the inlet, overbank material consists of subtidal and intertidal flats. Towards the fluvial end, tidal overbank material gives way to fluvial/alluvial overbank material deposited during river flood.

The plan form of the estuary likely plays a major role in the dynamics of water circulation within the system. During times of high fluvial influx, when strong density circulation is set up, the density node must be found seaward of the high sinuosity zone. If it were found within this zone, flow around the meanders would tend to homogenize the water column and break up the circulation pattern.



**Figure 2.8.** The relationship between water surface elevation and flow velocity for (**A**) a fluvial channel and (**B**) an ebb-dominated tidal channel. Note that within fluvial channels, overbank flow is associated with high flow velocity, while within tidal channels, overbank flow is associated with low flow velocity. From Eberth (2001).

#### Tidal Channel Morpho-dynamics

It is important to understand how morphology and dynamics of tidally influenced channels differ from channels of wholly fluvial origin. Contrasts in morphology are driven by two main differences in dynamics between fluvial and tidal channels: differing relation between water surface elevation and flow velocity, and the reversal of flow within tidal channels.

Within a fluvial channel, bankfull and overbank flow occur infrequently, and are associated with high flow velocity (Fig. 2.8). In a tidal channel, overbank flow occurs regularly and is associated with low velocity. This difference affects both the nature of overbank sediment, and the stability of the channel. In a tidal setting, the overbank material is typically finer grained than that in a fluvial setting (Table 2.1), and makes up a larger portion of the "floodplain" deposit. The low velocity associated with high water elevation in tidal channels leads to a lower occurrence of channel abandonment, particularly through chute cut-off and avulsion, relative to fluvial settings (Fig. 2.9). In a fluvial setting, the association of high water elevation, high flow velocity and sub-

| Characteristic                  | Environment  |  |  |
|---------------------------------|--|--|--|
|                                 | Fluvial  | Tidal  |  |
| Channel                         |  |  |  |
| Slope                           | Highly variable                                      | Very low   |  |
| Depth                           | Variable, up to 70m                                  | varies with tidal range:<br>mesotidal, 1-15m<br>macrotidal, 1-30m  |  |
| Network                         | Varies with structure, tectonics, climate            | Dendritic, meandering  |  |
| Point Bar                       | Crest inactive during normal flow                    | Crest active every tidal cycle   |  |
| Chute                           | Subaqueous only during floods                        | Subaqueous through entire<br>tidal cycle   |  |
| Chute Bar                       | May be coarser than main bar                         | Rare, may be ebb- or flood-<br>oriented  |  |
| Sediment                        | Grain size varies, fine sand to<br>pebbles           | Grain size generally fine to<br>medium sand  |  |
| Bank                            |  |  |  |
| Levee                           | Often well developed                                 | Poorly developed to absent   |  |
| Crevasse Splay                  | Often well developed                                 | Absent or rare   |  |
| Sediment                        | Sand, silt   | Mud  |  |
| Flood Basin                     |  |  |  |
| Deposits                        | Point bar 60-90%<br>Overbank 10-40%                  | Point bar <30%<br>Overbank >70%  |  |
| Preservation                    | Flood plain elevation modified<br>by lateral erosion | Elevation of marsh tends toward MSL  |  |
| Flood Frequency                 | <1/year  | >6/month   |  |
| Velocity                        |  |  |  |
| Channel Maximum<br>Velocity     | Occurs near bankfull stages:<br>usually >100 cm/sec  | Flood: occurs before bankfull<br>Ebb: occurs at lower stages<br>than maximum flood velocity<br>Usually <100 cm/sec |  |
| Overbank Average<br>Velocity    | Often competent to move<br>medium sand               | Competent to transport mud   |  |
| Discharge                       | Highest at maximum river<br>stage                    | Low near tidal extremes;<br>maximum at intermediate<br>stages  |  |
| Suspended Sed.<br>Concentration | Less than capacity at maximum discharge              | Highest during maximum<br>discharge (spring ebb)   |  |

**Table 2.1.** Comparison of morphologic and dynamic characteristics of fluvial and tidal channels. From Barwis (1978).



**Figure 2.9.** Aerial photograph of salt-marsh surface, Cumberland Island, Georgia. While the tidal channel has doubled back on itself, neck cut-off has not taken place. This illustrates the stability of channels subject to tidal flow dynamics. From Frey and Howard (1986).

capacity sediment load leads to the exploitation and expansion of overland flow paths during flood stage. This results in avulsion, chute cut-off, and a higher occurrence of neck cut-off. In a tidal setting, the association between high water elevation, low velocity, and high deposition from suspension leads to the infilling of overbank lows, and a much reduced incidence of channel abandonment.

Bidirectional flow within tidal channels complicates matters significantly over unidirectional fluvial flow. A shift in the loci of erosion and deposition between flood and ebb directed flow commonly leads to a segregation of flood- and ebb-oriented sedimentary structures. Additionally, the pathways followed by flood and ebb directed flow commonly diverge, leading to complex channel form. In the outer "straight" reaches of a tidal river, flood- and ebb-oriented flow commonly bifurcate, generating sub-channels separated by mid-channel bars. In sinuous reaches, point bars may develop a multi-lobed geometry in which an apical bar separates the outer, dominant current influenced channel from an inner, subordinate current influenced chute. In some systems, mid channel bars are well developed on the downstream sides of meander apexes (e.g. Frey and Howard, 1986). While common in purely tidal channels, the generation of

multi-lobed and mid channel bars may be subdued within tidal rivers due to the regular disruption of bidirectional flow by high fluvial influx.

The character of accretionary bank deposition may change markedly over short distances, such as around a meander bend or between closely spaced bends. Smith (1987) noted that within the Willapa River, a coupled fining of sediment and shallowing of depositional dip is seen around a single point bar in a downstream direction (with respect to dominant current). Barwis (1978) noted that due to the segregation of flood and ebb directed currents, the orientation of sedimentary structures is commonly seen to contrast at different levels within the deposit of a tidal channel.

In a review of published IHS examples, the shape and slope of point bar surfaces are both seen to vary. While Smith (1988b) found dips of point bar surfaces in the Willapa River to be remarkably consistent from top to base, Edwards et al. (1983) found exhumed Permian point bars in north-central Texas to have a markedly concave-upwards form. In the latter case, the upward increase in dip was associated with an upward increase in mud content. Many authors have found the inclination of IHS strata to be highly variable within a given formation (Table 2.2). This variation may be explained through contrasting position along the accretionary bar, variations in radius of channel curvature, and variations in the textural makeup of the accumulating sediment, with the steepest dips associated with tight curves and cohesive sediment.

The presence of internal erosive surfaces (i.e. inclined surfaces within imbricate cosets) has been noted by several authors working with IHS deposits (e.g. Ramani, 1988; Eberth, 1996). Thomas et al. (1987) suggested that such surfaces may be generated through erosion of the point bar surface during extreme river floods or repeated chute cut-offs. Several additional allocyclic and autocyclic processes may also contribute to the generation imbricate cosets. These include extreme flow related to storm surges and rogue tides, inherent instability of point bar surface leading to gravity induced collapse, and changes in flow dynamics related to channel cut-offs immediately upstream or

| Ancient   |                        |                   |      |  |  |  |
|---|------------------------|-------------------|------|--|--|--|
| Locality  | Thickness              | Dip (degrees)     | Ref. |  |  |  |
| Pleistocene Willapa Bay                                       | 10m                    | N/A               | 1    |  |  |  |
| Upper Cretaceous Judith River Fm                              | <20m (<13m typical)    | 1-29              | 2    |  |  |  |
| Upper Cretaceous Bearpaw -<br>Horseshoe Canyon Fm. Transition | <13m                   | 8-15              | 3    |  |  |  |
| Upper Cretaceous Horseshoe<br>Canyon and Dinosaur Park Fm.    | 7-16m                  | <12               | 4    |  |  |  |
| Lower Cretaceous McMurray Fm.                                 | 8-25m (20-45m channel) | 4-22              | 5    |  |  |  |
| Lower Permian Clear Fork Gp.                                  | 2-3m                   | 5-25 (concave-up) | 6    |  |  |  |

#### IHS Set Thicknesses and Dips

| Modern   |                                       |               |      |  |  |
|--|---------------------------------------|---------------|------|--|--|
| Locality   | Thickness                             | Dip (degrees) | Ref. |  |  |
| Mesotidal Willapa Bay                                | 7m                                    | 9-18          | 1    |  |  |
| Macrotidal Daule River                               | 12m                                   | N/A           | 1    |  |  |
| Macrotidal Babahovo River                            | 15m                                   | 12            | 1    |  |  |
| Macrotidal South Alligator River                     | 10-15m                                | 5-25          | 7    |  |  |
| Macrotidal Ord River                                 | av.~12m (locally to 25m)              | N/A           | 8    |  |  |
| Microtidal York River                                | 8-33m (under-filled relic<br>valley?) | <2            | 9    |  |  |
| Macrotidal Solway Firth (intertidal <3m<br>channels) |                                       | 5-15          | 10   |  |  |

**Table 2.2.** A compilation of the thicknesses and dips of IHS sets within the rock record, and channel depths and accretionary bank inclinations within modern tidal channels. Note that the values of IHS set thickness and associated channel depth reported for the McMurray Formation are anomalously large. References: 1-Smith, 1988b, 2-Wood, 1989, 3-Rahmani, 1988, 4-Eberth, 1996, 5-Mossop and Flach, 1983, 6-Edwards et al., 1983, 7-Woodroffe et al., 1989, 8-Coleman and Wright, 1978, 9-Dellapenna et al., 2003, 10-de Mowbray, 1983.

#### downstream.

### **Channel Migration**

The migration of a meandering channel may take place in either a confined or unconfined manner (Fig. 2.10). Where the migrating channel is contained within a strict meander belt that does not exceed the natural amplitude of the channel (e.g. within a narrow valley), the expansion of meanders is precluded, and channel migration is limited to translation in the direction sediment flux along the axis of the belt. Where a migrating channel is not confined (e.g. within a wide floodplain of poorly consolidated sediment), the channel is free to migrate through expansion and rotation of meander bends as well as translation. With confined migration, the resultant accretionary surfaces are limited in orientation such that they dip obliquely down the meander belt. With unconfined migration, the resultant accretionary surfaces have no directional organization. Odguard (1987) suggested that within fluvial systems, the prevalence of meander expansion and downstream translation are respectively linked aggradation and degradation (i.e. local sedimentation and sediment by-pass).

As mentioned earlier, within a riverine estuary, sinuous channel meandering is limited to a central zone, with less sinuous reaches upstream and downstream. Within three modern systems along the Australian coast, the Ord River, the South Alligator River and the Daly River (Coleman and Wright, 1978; Woodroffe et al., 1989; Chappel, 1993), sinuous channel meandering takes place in an area approximately 5-10 km wide and 15-20 km long, with relic meander forms preserved in a zone stretching10's of km inland. This implies system progradation since the end of the Holocene transgression, with a seaward shift on the order of 5 km per millennium.

The factors controlling migration rate of meandering channels have been dealt with qualitatively by several authors. Odguard (1987) suggested that erosion of a vegetated cutbank takes place at roughly half the rate of an unvegetated bank, and cites



Figure 2.10. Variations in the pattern of channel migration related to bounding conditions. (A) Channel is not confined, and channel migration has taken place in a disordered fashion. Hay River, Alberta. (B) Channel is confined by a cohesive 'host' facies, resulting in the creation of discrete meander 'pods', which have been repeatedly reoccupied with a consistent point bar geometry. Location unknown. (C) Channel is confined within a narrow valley, which limits channel migration to translation of meanders along the axis of the valley. Beaver River, Alberta.

fluvial meander migration rates of approximately 1% of channel width annually. The ratio between channel width and radius of curvature around meander bends may also play a significant role in determining cutbank erosion rate (Jackson, 1976). Barwis (1978) found migration rates in tidal channels to vary greatly, largely under the influence of cutbank lithology. Ikeda (1989) stated that "plan form and migration of meandering channels is strongly influenced by the distribution of thick, fine grained, cohesive flood plain deposits".

The character of sediment through which the channel is cutting may influence the depth and cross-sectional profile of the channel in addition to its plan form. The role peat layers play in limiting the depth of channel incision has been highlighted by Eberth (1996) in the Upper Cretaceous of southern Alberta, and by Ryer and Langer (1980) in the Upper Cretaceous of central Utah. Beds of cohesive mud have a similar effect on limiting incision depth, and a particularly relevant example from the Judith River Formation (Fig. 2.11A) was presented by Thomas et al. (1987). In this example, an IHS set bottomed-out against a thick inclined mud bed, and climbed up along the mud bed, pinching thinner and thinner. This implies that IHS sets containing cohesive mud layers possess anisotropic susceptibility to erosion during subsequent channel migration. This would lead to the preferential generation of stacked cosets with similar accretion direction, and low incidence of stacked cosets with opposing accretion direction.

Wood (1989) presented a useful discussion of the genetic behavior of lateral accretion packages within the upper Cretaceous Judith River Formation, particularly with respect to their initiation, termination and stacking.

# THE EFFECT OF SYSTEM DYNAMICS ON BENTHOS

Low absolute salinity, rapid salinity fluctuation, high turbidity and shifting substrate are all known to play significant roles in limiting benthic colonization, and influencing the behavior of those organisms which do establish themselves. As such, the









All cohesive layers undercut Channel maintains depth



C Cohesive layers at base not undercut Channel cannot maintain depth



**Figure 2.11.** Anisotropic erosional susceptibility of IHS with cohesive mud beds. (A) An example from the Upper Cretaceous Judith River Formation showing a small IHS set climbing an inclined mud bed. From Thomas et al. (1987). (B) Where a channel is migrating with the same directional sense as the IHS through which it is cutting, mud beds are undercut and the channel maintains depth. (C) Where a channel is migrating with opposing directional sense to the IHS through which it is cutting, it cannot undercut mud beds near its base, and thus cannot maintain depth.





dynamics of estuarine circulation play a significant role in dictating the distribution of benthic organisms and their activities, in both a spatial and temporal sense.

Due to the rigors of maintaining proper cellular chemistry, the estuarine environment can be harsh on aquatic organisms. Various groups of aquatic fauna have made adaptive changes that allow them to tolerate varying ranges of absolute salinity and rates of salinity fluctuation. Many of these adaptations involve biotic processes on the cellular level that allow the organism to tolerate exposure to salinity stress. Other adaptations are behavioral and reduce the organism's exposure to stress. Deep infaunal burrowing minimizes exposure to salinity variation in the overlying water column through the buffering effect of the sediment pore water (Fig. 2.12). Other adaptive behaviors include reduced activity during low salinity portions of the tidal cycle, and the closure of bivalved organisms, with the entrapped water acting as a buffer.

Within estuaries, the nature and intensity of salinity stress is seen to vary along the system. In the far outer reaches of an estuarine channel, stress is low owing to stable, near marine salinity. In the mid-outer reaches, absolute salinity is moderately reduced

relative to marine levels, but again, salinity fluctuation is minimal. In mid-inner reaches, absolute salinity is significantly reduced and diurnal fluctuation is pronounced. In far inner reaches, salinity is fairly stable, showing little elevation over that of freshwater. Howard et al. (1975) showed quite clearly within the Ogeechee River – Ossabaw Sound system of Georgia how a gradient in salinity stress affects the abundance and diversity of resident benthic organisms (Fig. 2.13). A general decrease in diversity is seen with decreasing absolute salinity, and a minimum of abundance is seen in the region exposed to the most pronounced semidiurnal fluctuation in salinity.

Other factors, such as water turbidity, rate of sedimentation and the texture and stability of substrate can also have a great effect on the viability and behavior of benthic organisms. Because the various stresses vary spatially within the estuary, position can greatly influence the behavior of resident organisms. For example, near the mouth of the system, a sandy substrate, hospitable salinity and low turbidity will promote the activity of filter feeding organisms, with burrows open to water column. At a position further landward, high turbidity, extreme salinity fluctuation and a muddy, organic-rich substrate will promote the activity of endobenthic deposit feeders.

As circulation and sedimentation evolve through annual cycles, the stresses at a given location within the estuary will vary. Near the mouth of the system, filter feeders will be highly active during periods of low fluvial discharge, but will be snuffed out by the seaward excursion of the turbidity maximum during high discharge. In positions midway up the estuary, quiescent conditions of moderate salinity may be replaced by high energy fluvially driven processes and freshening of water chemistry during periods of high discharge.

The preservation potential of bioturbation may be unequal along the system, and lead to situations where locations rich in biologic activity pass little evidence of such into the rock record. Howard et al. (1975) showed that within the channelized portion of the Ogeechee River – Ossabaw Sound system, the most seaward point bars exhibited active



Figure 2.13. The effects of water salinity variation within the Ogeechee River – Ossabaw Sound estuary. (A) Plan form and station location. (B) Semidiurnal range of salinity at each station. (C) Abundance and diversity of the benthic community along the system. (D) Systematic organization of diversity. (E) Systematic organization of abundance. Modified from Howard et al. (1975).

colonization, but little evidence of such was preserved below the surface. This paradox was attributed to frequent physical reworking of this sub-environment through high energy wave and tidal current action. In examining the rock record, the effects of repeated destruction of biogenic structure in high energy environments must not be overlooked.

## SYNTHESIZED DEPOSITIONAL MODEL

With an understanding of the processes driving and controlling sedimentation in an estuary, it is possible to generate a model that predicts longitudinal variation in depositional character along the system (Fig. 2.14).

Near the head of the system, high river discharge brings high energy and sediment load, resulting in the accumulation of high energy, rapidly emplaced sands with fluvial character. During periods of low river discharge, this area is the locus of a low intensity, transient turbidity maximum maintained landward of the density node through tidal action. Deposition from the tidally maintained turbidity maximum is likely to be dominated by finely laminated, low energy deposits with a tidal character. Due to the high energy associated with fluvial flooding, the finely laminated deposits would be vulnerable to erosive removal, leading to common amalgamation of fluvial sands.

Towards the inlet of the system, high fluvial discharge will bring a seaward displacement of the density node, and a strengthening of density circulation. This, coupled with a high influx of suspended material from continental drainage, will lead to the establishment of a high concentration, stationary turbidity maximum in the area. Large volumes of fine material will be deposited in a relatively unstructured manner from the turbidity maximum, which is maintained through density circulation. During periods of low river discharge, the area will be dominated by moderate to high energy tidal processes, and higher absolute salinity. This higher energy will lead to scouring of the previously deposited muds, and subsequent deposition of sands driven inland from the inlet by tidal flow.

Figure 2.14. Contrast in estuarine circulation, sedimentation and biologic stresses between periods of low river discharge and high river discharge. (A) During periods of low river discharge, tidal circulation dominates over fluvial/density circulation. The system experiences a deep incursion of brackish water. Deposition of fines is skewed towards the fluvial end of the system and takes place with a laminated tidal character. The inlet end of the system experiences tidal reworking with a net landward flux of sediment. (B) During periods of high river discharge, fluvial/density circulation dominates over tidal circulation. Brackish water is flushed from much of the system. Deposition of fines is skewed towards the inlet end of the system and takes place with a largely unstructured character. The fluvial end of the system experiences intense reworking with a net seaward flux of sediment.



Within the center reach of the system, low to moderate energy will dominate throughout the cycle, and fine sediment character will be transitional between that seen at each end of the system. In this region deposition will be influenced by the turbidity maximum as well as moderate energy pulses driven by high fluvial inflow and periods of strong tidal forcing. During periods of low fluvial discharge, salinity will fluctuate with diurnal tidal flow.

### **OBSERVATIONS AND INTERPRETATIONS**

## PURPOSE AND METHOD OF STUDY

In order to demonstrate the breadth of character inherent to IHS of the McMurray Formation, intervals of twenty eight cores (representing approximately 900 m of section) from Canadian Natural Resource Limited's Horizon Project lease were logged. Additionally, several outcrops were examined. In studying IHS within the McMurray Formation, core and outcrop each have inherent strengths and weaknesses.

Core presents a continuous, one-dimensional sampling of rock, free of erosional effects and lithologic preservational bias. The proper identification of IHS in core may be challenging, but is facilitated when accompanying dipmeter logs are available. The geometry and significance of discontinuity surfaces seen in core is unclear, and no doubt many such surfaces are too subtle to be readily identified. Due to pervasive bitumen stain, the structure of clean sand beds is typically obscured.

Outcrop provides a two-dimensional section through the rock, allowing for a more instructive examination of morphologic features within the rock, such as the shape and stacking pattern of IHS sets. Structure within the sand is typically enhanced through weathering effects. The usefulness of outcrop is limited by several factors, including: accessibility, incomplete exposure, limited geographical distribution, a preservational bias towards sand-dominated deposits and weathering effects within mud-rich horizons.

The examination of mine-face exposures would overcome several of these limitations, but owing to logistical and safety considerations, no significant campaign of mine-face examination was undertaken for this study.

## CHARACTERIZATION OF McMURRAY FORMATION IHS

Within the McMurray Formation, a number of IHS lithosomes with distinct sedimentologic and ichnologic character are seen. Of these, five can be clearly related to depositional dynamics along the main axis of a riverine estuary.

#### Lithosome A

This lithosome consists of sand-dominated IHS containing coarse members of inconsistent thickness, and fine members commonly displaying starved interlamination of mud and silt/sand (Fig. 2.15A). Coarse-fine member contacts are sharp, and burrowing is near absent. The single encountered example succession is broken by clear discontinuities into several sets, none of which exceed 5 m in thickness.

Coarse members are typically composed of relatively poorly sorted lower very fine to lower fine sand, and vary in thickness from 5 cm to in excess of a meter. Where clear, structure includes ripple cross-stratification, cross-bedding on a 5-40 cm scale and parallel bedding (Fig. 2.15B). No clear hierarchy of structure is seen within the coarse member beds. Some cross-beds are highlighted by concentrations of mud chips and carbonaceous debris within their toesets, or drapes of massive mud (<1 cm thick) within their foresets (Fig. 2.15C).

The coarse members are devoid of evident burrowing.

Fine members vary significantly in character and thickness. Some fines are composed of a single layer of massive mud up to 3 cm thick, some display ultra fine interlamination of mud and silt/sand (Fig. 2.15D), while others show mm- to cm-scale

**Figure 2.15.** Character of Lithosome A. All from AA/15-23-96-13 W4. (A) Sand dominated IHS. Base of the core is to the lower left, top to the upper right. Note the inconsistent thickness of coarse members, variable character of the fines, and subtle expression of cross-bedding in the sands. The mud and carbonaceous clast-bearing horizon just above 190 m marks a clearly erosive contact, thought to represent a channel base. (B) Sharp contacts between coarse and fine members. Note the robust cross-bedding in the sand, and the sand-starved nature of the fines. 185.3 m. (C) Intra-member mud drapes highlighting otherwise obscure cross-bedding in the sand. Note that the ripple bedding in the overlying fine member indicates an opposition of sediment flux between coarse and fine member mud. Note that most of the granular material in the mud is considerably finer than that seen in the overlying sand bed, while that seen in the better developed, bitumen-stained laminae is of equivalent coarseness. 186.5 m.



Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

interlamination of fairly massive mud and clean sand (Fig. 2.16A). In some cases mud and starved ripples of silt/sand are found in intimate association, either as ripples with ultra thin mud drapes in their foreset laminae (Fig. 2.16B), or as isolated ripples encased in mud (Fig. 2.16C). In general, the fine members exhibit starvation with respect to the availability of granular material, reflecting extremely low competency of flow during fine member deposition. Internal variations in the character and texture of the fine members are quite common, locally exhibiting a cyclic nature suggestive of fortnightly variation in sedimentation (Fig. 2.16D).

Burrowing is extremely rare in the fine members. *Planolites* is found exclusively and is typically less than 3mm in diameter.

Contacts between the coarse and fine members are typically sharp. Opposition of bedform migration direction between fine and coarse members is apparent locally.

This succession displays no significant vertical trends. The sand is relatively coarse and poorly sorted throughout the succession, and no trend in the scale of crossstratification is apparent. Broken up into numerous sets less than 5m in thickness, the dipmeter data displays inconsistent orientation between sets and poorly organized profiles within them.

Observations are consistent with deposition near the landward limit of tidal influence, where fluvially driven deposition dominated and low energy tidally driven deposition took place only during periods of negligible fluvial input. Three characteristics suggest that the coarse members were deposited under conditions of suppressed salinity relative to the fine members. First, synaeresis cracking, commonly seen in other IHS species in association with fine to coarse member transitions, is not seen. Secondly, the paucity of muddy laminae within the sands suggests that salinity induced flocculation did not take place during coarse member deposition. Thirdly the absence of burrowing in coarse members may reflect inhospitably low salinity, whereas limited burrowing

Figure 2.16. Character of Lithosome A. All from AA/15-23-96-13 W4. (A) Fairly coarsely interlaminated mud and sand, displaying moderately abundant *Planolites*. This thick fine member contains the most abundant burrowing seen in the IHS succession. Note the alternation between clean sand and dense mud deposition with little intermediate material. 179.6 m. (B) Close up of the fine member seen in Figure 2.15-C. Note the repeated appearance of fine mud laminae completely draping the accretionary face of the ripple. This implies cyclic, possibly tidal, variation in the competence/sediment load of the causative flow. 186.1 m. (C) Ripples encased in mud and fine mud chips. Note the cyclic variation between sand and mud chip deposition, suggestive of tidal influence. The ripples are capped by a dense mud layer deposited through suspension fallout. 181.4 m. (D) Cyclic variation in the character and silt/sand content of fine member deposits. This example is strongly suggestive of fortnightly tidal variation in the competence of flow. 184.0 m.



in the fine members may indicate a notable rise in salinity. The sharp contacts seen between fine and coarse members indicate that changes in the dynamics of deposition (and possibly water chemistry) were punctuated. The inconsistent thickness of coarse members is thought to be the result of irregularity of depositional dynamics in the form of inconsistent thickness of coarse member deposition, irregular development of fine member depositional conditions (allowing for conformable amalgamation of sand beds), and amalgamation of sands through erosion of intervening fine members.

The fine members display character consistent with tidal influence, with the alternation between mud deposition and starved ripple formation. In several examples, this alternation is suggestive of fortnightly variation in flow competence. Locally, opposition of bedform migration between coarse and fine member deposition in seen, which is consistent with a basinward sediment flux during coarse member deposition, and landward flux during deposition of fines. The limited endogenic burrowing within the fines suggests that salinity within the water column was unstable during times of fine member deposition.

Low stability of channel and bank morphology are indicated by the presence of numerous discontinuities within the succession, and the variable orientation of the sets they define.

#### Lithosome B

This IHS lithosome shows a gradational upward muddying trend, with the fine members displaying clearly tidal character (Fig. 2.17A). Low diversity burrowing is fairly abundant in the fine members, while bioturbation is rare in the coarse member sands. The example succession consists of two individual IHS sets, 6 and 10 m thick, which have broadly consistent character and orientation.

Coarse members are composed of a fairly poorly sorted mix of silt and very fine sand and typically range in thickness from a 3 - 15 cm, with adjacent beds often

Figure 2.17. Character of Lithosome B. All from AA/01-06-97-11 W4. (A) Upward muddying IHS. Base of the core is to the lower left, top to the upper right. Note the interlaminated nature of the fines, and common muddy burrows subtending from the fines into underlying sands. (B) Inconsistent texture of coarse member material. The coarse member to the left of the scale card is composed of two texturally contrasting beds. 69.8 m. (C) Fine lenticular interlamination of the fine member material. 63.7 m. (D) Rhythmic variation in the granular content of fine member material suggestive of fortnightly tidal variation in flow strength. 66.5 m.



50

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

contrasting somewhat in texture (Fig. 2.17B). Locally, coarse member beds are composed of amalgamated upward fining cycles. Ripple cross-lamination on a 1-3 cm scale is common.

The coarse members are generally unburrowed, although rare indistinct mottling is seen.

Fine members are composed of finely lenticularly interlaminated mud, silt and lower very fine sand (Fig. 2.17C). The interlamination is often rhythmic in nature, and suggestive of fortnightly tidal cyclicity (Fig. 2.17D). In several places clear mud doublets and double mud-draped ripples are seen (Fig. 2.18A).

Burrowing within the fine members is moderately abundant and dominated by *Planolites*. In places, muddy inclined burrows and *Palaeophycus* are seen to subtend from the fines into the tops of underlying coarse member sands.

The inclined units remain fairly consistent in thickness (Fig. 2.18B), while the thickness and proportion of fine members increase upwards at the expense of the coarse members. Contacts between the coarse and fine members may be sharp or transitional, with the bases of thicker coarse member sand beds tending to be quite sharp. Coarse and fine members are locally seen to contrast strongly in the texture of their granular components (Fig. 2.18C). Synaeresis cracks are reasonably common towards the top of the succession, and are found in association with the transition from muddy to sandy deposition.

Observations are consistent with deposition in a position intermediate between the seaward and landward limits of turbidity maximum excursion. The variable texture of the coarse members sands, coupled with the rarity of burrowing is suggestive of fluvial deposition for most of the coarse members. The presence of synaeresis cracks suggests that some coarse members were deposited in association with comparatively high salinity, likely through tidal forcing during periods of extremely low fluvial inflow. The

**Figure 2.18.** Character of Lithosome B. All from AA/01-06-97-11 W4. (A) Tidal variation in the mud content of an aggradational bedform. Fine mud laminae occur in pairs, reflecting semidiurnal cyclicity, while the proportion of mud varies, reflecting fortnightly cyclicity. 70.2 m. (B) Fairly consistent inclined unit thickness. 73.0 m. (C) Contrasting grain size of granular material between coarse and fine members. This implies a wholesale change in the competence of flow between coarse and fine member deposition, and possibly a change in sediment flux direction. 73.4 m.



Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

amalgamation of upward fining cycles within the coarse members may reflect deposition from subsequent fluvial flood events. Moderately abundant burrowing in the fine members, and the abundance of fine mud laminae indicate deposition under the influence of saline water, although the dominance of endogenic forms suggests that salinities were unstable. Double mud drapes, mud doublets and rhythmic variation in the granular content of the fines indicate deposition took place under low energy tidal conditions. The contrast in granular grain size between the coarse and fine members indicates drastic change in the competence, and likely flux direction, of sediment transport. All in all, observations suggest that deposition took place where moderate energy fluvial processes exerted influence, but were tempered by an overall brackish estuarine environment.

### Lithosome C

This mud dominated lithosome is comprised of interbedded dense muds and flaser-bedded to locally clean sands (Fig. 2.19A). The thickness of the inclined units is strikingly consistent within a given set. Coarse-fine member contacts are gradational to sharp, and burrowing is present in both fine and coarse members. Deformation, seen as both distortion of laminated material and churned muddy slump deposits, is quite common (Fig. 2.19C, D). Example successions range up to 37 m thick, but can typically be broken into several thinner sets.

Coarse members are composed of well sorted silt to upper very fine sand (locally to lower fine sand), commonly interlaminated with mud. Character of the coarse members varies from lenticularly interlaminated silt/sand and mud horizons a few mm to a few cm thick, to flaser interbedded silt/sand and mud in horizons 2 - 20 cm thick, to occasionally developed clean sand beds, typically less than 5 cm thick (Fig. 2.19B). Locally the coarse members are expressed only as silt/sand-rich burrowed horizons in the otherwise structureless mud, exhibiting no preserved physical structure (Fig. 2.20A). Structure in most of the coarse member beds is totally obscured by bitumen, but ripple cross-

**Figure 2.19.** Character of Lithosome C. (**A**) Dense mud dominated IHS. Base of core is to lower left, top to upper right. Coarse member character varies from clean sand beds a few cm thick to flaser interlaminated mud and sand. Note the fairly consistent thickness of the inclined units, and sand filled burrows subtending into several of the mud beds. AA/12-31-96-11 W4. (**B**) Upward muddying inclined units with typically sharp, erosive bases. Note the presence of synaeresis cracks at the top of some units, indicating an increase in water salinity associated with the transition from fine to coarse member deposition. AA/04-06-97-12 W4, 165.8 m. (**C**) Deformation of interlaminated mud and silt/sand. AA/12-31-96-11 W4, 89.2 m. (**D**) Churned base of a slump deposit found near the base of a succession. Note the chaotic mixture of mud with coarser material, including quartzose pebbles, the "drag folding" of laminae at the base, and the infiltration of fluidized mud into the underlying sand. AA/16-36-96-12 W4, 109.8 m.



Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

lamination on a 0.5 - 2 cm scale is locally apparent.

Burrowing in the coarse members consists of an assemblage dominated by *Planolites* and *Teichichnus*, with *Cylindrichnus*, *Chondrites* and indistinct compound burrowing also present in some examples. Burrowing is concentrated on interlaminated mud and silt/sand, with *Teichichnus* tending to be less abundant where sands are thicker and cleaner (Fig. 2.20B, C). Consistency of burrowing between successive coarse members in often quite low, and intensity of burrowing varies significantly between example successions.

The fine members of this IHS species are composed of superficially structureless mud. While in some cases the mud is indeed structureless, in most instances subtle submm- to cm-scale lamination is present in the form of diffuse to locally crisp variation in grain size and content of granular material. The content of silt/sand in these muds varies from undetectable with the naked eye to local examples where the "mud" is in truth grain supported silt/sand impregnated with clay (Fig. 2.20D). Locally, sand found in the fine members appears coarser than that found in the adjacent coarse members (Fig. 2.21A, B). In places, carbonaceous detritus makes up a significant portion of fine member deposits in horizons of mm- to cm-scale (Fig. 2.21C).

Bioturbation of the fine members is dominated by *Planolites* with rare *Teichichnus* and indistinct compound reworking. Intensity of burrowing within the mud varies from rare to locally high, with a general direct relationship between silt/sand content and degree of reworking. Burrowing is often concentrated on the tops of dense mud beds, indicating colonization of the consolidated mud surface during a hiatus between mud and sand deposition. Locally, burrowing of sand-rich muds imparts a Swiss cheese-like appearance.

The contacts between coarse and fine members may be gradational, sharp or burrow obscured. In general, the transition from sandy to muddy deposition is more gradational than the transition from muddy to sandy deposition, although some sharp-

Figure 2.20. Character of Lithosome C. (A) Poorly developed "coarse members" consisting of burrow-worked sandy horizons in the mud. AA/16-36-96-12 W4, 104.9 m. (B) Bioturbated, poorly developed coarse members. AA/12-31-96-11 W4, 82.9 m. (C) Localized burrowing within sandy horizons, and subtending into the underlying dense mud. AA/12-31-96-11 W4, 68.2 m. (D) Highly burrowed sandy mud. Much of the "mud" is actually grain supported sand impregnated with mud. AB/05-29-96-12 W4, 135.4 m.


**Figure 2.21.** Character of Lithosome C. (**A**, **B**) Fine member material containing relatively coarse sand. The sand occurs in discrete lenses and laminae, as well as distributed within burrow worked horizons, and is notably coarser than the sand within associated coarse members. This implies that the fine member deposition was associated with relatively energetic periods of flow and a sediment load that was coarser, and less well sorted than that associated with coarse member deposition. AB/04-11-96-12 W4, (A) 99.7 m, (B) 99.4 m. (C) Highly burrowed mud dominated IHS. While bioturbation is intense in the sandy material, the cores of the dense mud beds remain relatively untouched. Note the concentration of carbonaceous debris above the scale card. AB?05-29-96-12 W4, 136.3 m. (**D**) Synaeresis crack associated with the transition from fine member to coarse member deposition. This indicates that deposition of coarse member mud took place under conditions of suppressed salinity relative to the deposition of coarse member sand. AA/12-15-96-12 W4, 96.0 m.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



based muds are noted. In several instances, synaeresis cracks are seen at the transition between fine and coarse member deposition (Fig. 2.21D).

Within this IHS lithosome successions exhibit consistent fining upwards grain size profiles. Dipmeter data shows that the inclination of the IHS is greatest where coarse members are relatively thick. Inconsistencies within the dipmeter profile over a meter or two are fairly common, and occur most often where the dip reaches or exceeds 8°. These are thought to represent levels at which slump removal of material, and subsequent re-establishment of a stable point bar surface took place.

Observations are consistent with deposition near the seaward limit of turbidity maximum excursion. The deposition of dense, structureless mud is known to take place from the turbidity maximum in modern estuarine systems at times of high fluvial influx, and strong density circulation (Meade, 1972). The observation that maximum grain size in fine members locally exceeds that of coarse members suggests that deposition of the former was associated with increased competence of flow and/or a coarser, less well sorted source of bedload sediment. The occurrence of synaeresis cracks suggest that the fine member muds were deposited under suppressed salinity relative to the coarse member sands. The concentration of bioturbation within and subtending from the coarse members also suggests that conditions were less hospitable during fine member deposition, likely due to a combination low salinity, high turbidity and unstable substrate. The minimal accumulation of coarse member sand may be the result of bed load bypass across a scoured and cohesive, or mud armored substrate during periods of strong tidal flow.

## Lithosome D

This lithosome consists of sand dominated IHS exhibiting inconsistent inclined unit thickness, typically sharp coarse-fine member contacts, and relatively abundant

burrowing of both fine and coarse members (Fig. 2.22A). Examples successions exceed 30 m in thickness with broadly consistent character and stratal orientation. In addition to occurrences in core, this lithosome also occurs prominently in outcrop along the Athabasca and Steepbank Rivers (Fig. 2.22B). Several subtle internal discontinuities are found in each of these IHS intervals examined, highlighted by inconsistencies in the dipmeter profile, grain size, and abundance of burrowing.

Coarse members range from 5 - 100 cm thick and are composed dominantly of moderately well sorted coarse silt to upper very fine sand. Physical structure within the coarse members is largely obscured through bitumen staining, but parallel lamination and cross-lamination in 1 - 4 cm sets are locally evident through the main body of the IHS. Towards the base of the successions, cross-stratification in sets 5 - 25 cm thick is common (Fig. 2.22C). Locally, the amalgamation of sand beds with little or no intervening fine member deposition is evident.

The coarse members contain a burrow assemblage dominated by inclined *Cylindrichnus* (Fig. 2.23A, B), with lesser amounts of thin *Skolithos* (commonly <1 mm in diameter), and local indistinct mottling. It is doubtful that all biogenic structure in the sands has been recognized, as only that which is expressed through distinct grain size contrast is apparent through the bitumen stain. Burrowing of the coarse members exhibits a broad upward increase in abundace. Mud walled *Cylindrichnus* are often present in sand with no associated mud laminae. Such occurrences may mark concealed bed junctions, where a temporarily deposited mud was subsequently removed, or alternately may reflect mud sequestration from the water column by the burrowing organism.

Fine members vary in thickness from muddy partings a few mm thick to muddominated intervals up to 20 cm thick. The character of the fines also varies. Towards the base of the IHS, the fine members commonly consist of structureless mud laminae a few mm to a few cm thick interlaminated with sand (Figs. 2.23C, 2.24A). These structureless muds often contain abundant disseminated granular material as coarse as

**Figure 2.22.** Character of Lithosome D. (A) Sand dominated IHS. Base of core is to lower left, top to upper right. Note the sharp contacts between coarse and fine members, and the inconsistent thickness of the couplets. Burrowing is common in both the coarse and fine members. A prominent horizon of *Cylindrichnus* is found just below 155m. AA/16-06-97-12 W4. (B) Sand dominated Lithosome D IHS in outcrop along the Steepbank River Valley. Note the inconsistent thickness of the inclined units, and the local bifurcation of fine member mud beds. (C) A robust cross-bed composed of relatively poorly sorted sand found near the base of a succession. AA/08-06-97-12 W4, 167.3 m.



65

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

**Figure 2.23.** Character of Lithosome D. (A) Prominent *Cylindrichnus* within the coarse members. While the burrows are lined with mud, many are not associated with preserved mud laminae. This may reflect the erosion of a temporarily deposited mud layer, or mud sequestration from the water column by the trace makers. The fine member material appears to be a combination of coarsely interlaminated mud and silt/sand, and transported mud chips. Burrowing within the fines includes *Planolites* and *?Chondrites*. AA/16-06-97-12 W4, 155.2 m. (B) Mud lined *Cylindrichnus* within the core of a coarse member bed in outcrop. (C) Coarsely interbedded dense mud and sand from near the base of a Lithosome D succession. Some of the mud within the sand beds appears to be composed of transported clasts. Note the presence of synaeresis cracks at the top of one mud bed. AA/08-06-97-12 W4, 146.8 m.



**Figure 2.24.** Character of Lithosome D. (A) Fine member material composed of coarsely interlaminated mud and sand. The mud has a very fluidy character, suggesting rapid deposition from a high concentration suspension. While no bioturbation is evident within the mud laminae, some epichnial pits and furrows are found along their tops. Photo is taken from near the base of a succession. AA/08-06-97-12 W4, 161.0 m. (B) Fine member material composed of finely interlaminated mud and sand. The lenticular interlamination and moderately abundant burrowing suggest deposition took place from a lower concentration suspension, and was influenced by weak tidal flow. AA/16-06-97-12 W4, 152.3 m. (C) Burrow obscured fine members. AA/08-06-97-12 W4, 141.4 m.



16-06-97-0 2

the accompanying coarse member sediment, and in many instances, a thin rind of mud infiltration into the underlying sand bed is observed. Moving upward from the base of the IHS, fine members take on a more finely laminated character, with mm-scale parallel and lenticular interlamination between mud and silt/sand (Fig. 2.24B). The relative proportions of mud and silt/sand can vary greatly, and in many cases burrowing has obliterated primary structure (Fig. 2.24C). These interlaminated fines contain granular material as coarse as seen in the associated coarse members, and notably lack the crispness of character observed in the interlaminated fines of other IHS lithosomes. Fine carbonaceous debris is locally found within fine members of both structureless and laminated character.

Burrowing within the fine members is dominated by *Planolites* with lesser *Teichichnus*, *Cylindrichnus*, mud-filled *Skolithos*, and compound burrowing. Degree of bioturbation varies considerably between successive fines, with a general trend towards more intense working of thicker fine members.

The contacts between coarse and fine members are typically sharp. The transition from fine to coarse member deposition is erosive, as evidenced by both the characteristically sharp tops of fine members and the locally evident amalgamation of sand beds. Locally, however, an upward coarsening of deposition preceded the erosive onset of the clean coarse member sand deposition.

Intervals of this IHS lithosome display remarkably stable orientation, with a very smooth dipmeter profile. Within each succession, however, several subtle discontinuities are present highlighted by inconsistencies in the abundance of bioturbation and, in some cases, the development of a minor lag. As these discontinuities are commonly developed as sand-on-sand contacts with little in the way of visual cues, they are difficult to identify without careful logging.

Observations are consistent with deposition at, or slightly seaward of the outer

limit of turbidity maximum excursion. The relatively abundant burrowing of both coarse and fine members within this IHS species points to conditions conducive to sediment colonization during the entire IHS depositional cycle. The deposition of well sorted, very fine sands associated with the development of vertical dwelling burrows indicates relatively consistent flow strength, texture of the supplied sediment, and salinity. The intermittent development of poorly laminated fine members may reflect deposition from the periphery of the turbidity maximum, tidal redistribution of muddy sediment or a combination of the two. The collection of a fluid mud phase at the base of estuarine channels through settling of the turbidity maximum during periods of reduced current has been documented and discussed in several papers (Meade, 1972, Allen et al., 1980, Einstein and Krone, 1962). The trend towards fluidy, structureless muds near the base of these successions suggests that this process was important, and at times, this portion of the channel system contained highly turbid waters. The disseminated silt/sand present within many of the structureless mud layers may have settled to the channel base with clays, or may represent material which was deposited on top of a recently accumulated mud layer lacking the competency required to support it (Terwindt and Breusers, 1972).

The similarity of maximum grain size present within coarse and fine members points to comparable competency of flow during their deposition. This would suggest that the heterogeneity of sediment character resulted from variable suspended sediment supply as much as or more so than variation in flow strength.

# Lithosome E

This lithosome consists of sand dominated IHS with a coupled muddying and coarsening upward trend. The coarse member sands contain numerous characteristics indicative of tide-dominated deposition (Fig. 2.25A). Moderate to high abundance burrowing with relatively high diversity is present within both coarse and fine members, and is locally seen to cross between them. While this succession exhibits fairly unstable

**Figure 2.25.** Character of Lithosome E. All from AA/07-23-96-13 W4. (A) Interbedded crossstratified sand and highly burrowed mud. Base of the core is to the lower left, top to the upper right. Note that while the contacts between coarse and fine members are typically sharp, bioturbation commonly crosses the contacts. (B) Opposing cross-bed and aggradational ripple cross-lamination. The cross-bed contains rhythmic striping with respect to mud chip content and a reactivation surface, both of which are indicative of tidal rhythmicity of flow. The opposition of bedform migration may have resulted from unequal flood and ebb tidal flow, or flow separation over the crest of the larger bedform, and backflow within its trough. 60.1 m. (C) Double mud drapes at the base of a cross-bed, indicating inequality of flood and ebb tidal flow. Again, the opposition of bedfrom migration between the cross-bed and underlying aggradational ripple crosslamination is seen. 161.0 m. (D) Oscillatory wave ripples. Present near the top of the succession, these ripples indicate that wave action exerted some influence on the shallow portions of the shoal. 153.8 m.



73

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

stratal orientation, no clear discontinuities are seen within its 17 m thickness.

The coarse members are composed of lower very fine to lower fine sand in beds ranging from a few cm to 1 m in thickness, displaying a slight coarsening upwards trend through the succession. These sands are organized into both ripple cross-lamination sets on the order of 1 cm thick and cross-bed sets typically less than 15 cm thick. The crossbeds commonly display rhythmic grain size striping (Fig. 2.25B), and locally contain double mud drapes in their toesets (Fig. 2.25C). Near the base of the succession, crossbedding in sets up to 40 cm thick is evident. Locally, cross-beds and fine ripple crosslaminae are seen in an immediately superjacent relationship, with opposing migration direction. This situation may have been generated either through flow reversal, or flow separation over large bedforms in unidirectional flow. Near the top of the succession, oscillatory wave ripples are seen (Fig. 2.25D).

The coarse members exhibit a somewhat inconsistent burrowing character. In some locations (particularly within cross-beds), discrete *Skolithos*, *Cylindrichnus* and (bivalve?) fugichnia are seen (Fig. 2.26A), while in other places, the sand has been highly reworked, leaving a mottled texture with few discrete structures (some *Palaeophycus*) (Fig. 2.26B).

The fine members range from <1 cm to 10 cm in thickness, and vary in character from mm-scale interlamination of mud and sand to structureless mud containing notable disseminated sand. Most of the fine members, however, have been thoroughly burrowed, obscuring primary character (Fig. 2.26C). Within the lower half of the succession, the fine members tend to occur in pairs, with a sand bed 1-5 cm thick separating them (Figs. 2.26D, 2.27A). Carbonaceous debris locally composes a minor portion of the fine member material (Fig. 2.27B).

The fines are typically well burrowed, with the burrowed texture often extending beyond their boundaries into the subjacent and superjacent sand. Discrete burrows in the fines are dominated by *Planolites*, with *Chondrites*, *Teichichnus* and *Thalassinoides* also

Figure 2.26. Character of Lithosome E. All from AA/07-23-96-13 W4. (A) Highly burrowed Lithosome E IHS. The high abundance of burrowing has totally obscured the primary character of the muds, and locally the sands. Burrowing in the muddy sediment is quite indistinct, with Planolites and Chondrites comprising the only clear forms. Biogenic structure in the sand varies from indistinct mottling immediately above and below the muds (?Palaeophycus), to clear vertical dwelling and escape structures within cross-bedded sand. Cylindrichnus and Skolithos are found above the scale card, and fugichnia (bivalve?) are found to the left. Note the remnant planar lamination found between the two mud layers above the scale card. 157.2 m. (B) Burrowing of muddy material. Planolites is common in all the fine member material and Chondrites is present locally. To the left of the scale card *Palaeophycus* is found in a sandy horizon. The tops of several mud layers are pitted and scalloped. 159.8 m. (C) Intense mottling of both coarse and fine member material. Fine lined Skolithos and Palaeophycus are common in the sand, while few discrete structures are present in the mud. 158.7 m. (D) Sand dominated IHS with inconsistent coarse member thickness from near the base of the succession. Base of the core is to the lower left, top to the upper right. At this level, the fine member muds typically occur in pairs. Detail is shown in Figures 2.27A and B.



76

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

**Figure 2.27.** Character of Lithosome E. All from AA/07-23-96-13 W4. (A) Paired fine member mud beds and common mud chips within coarse member sands. 167.4 m. (B) Interlaminated "fine member" composed largely of fine mud chips and carbonaceous debris. 167.0 m. (C) Burrowing of muddy material. *Planolites* and *Chondrites* are common, and a single clear *Teichichnus* is seen. Much of the bioturbation consists of indiscrete structures. The concentration of sand immediately above the penny is interpreted to be a reworked *Thalassinoides*. 154.3 m.



Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

present (Fig. 2.27C). The tops of many mud layers contain epichnial pits and furrows, representing colonization and/or grazing of the mud surface.

Contacts between coarse and fine members are sharp and commonly distorted by burrowing.

A clear coarsening upward trend is seen with respect to the maximum grain size present in the coarse member sands. A general upwards decline in the scale of crossstratification is also seen. The proportion and thickness of muddy fine member beds are seen to increase upwards. The abundance of burrowing in both the coarse and fine member material also increases upwards.

Observations are consistent with deposition seaward of the channelized portion of the system as a tidal shoal within the mouth of the estuary. This lithosome displays clear tidal influence, in the form of double mud drapes and grain size striping in crossbeds. Clear wave influence is seen in clean sand beds at the top of the succession. The coarsening upwards trend, coupled with the inconsistent stratal organization evident in dipmeter contrasts with the character common to IHS from a channelized setting.

The high abundance and diversity of burrowing seen in both coarse and fine members suggests an environment that was much less stressed than that associated with other IHS lithosomes. The lack of clear ichnological discontinuity at coarse-fine member contacts suggests that the change in dynamics between sand- and mud-dominated deposition was not associated with environmental change drastic enough to affect the activity of the burrowing organisms.

Coleman and Wright (1978) described the occurrence of analogous tidal shoals in the macrotidal Ord River Estuary of Western Australia. The shoals they described vary in relief from 10-22 m, with tops awash at low tide, and are interpreted to have formed where flood tidal and ebb tidal sediment transport converge.

The commonly paired occurrence of fine member muds is a bit of an enigma. One

possible explanation lies in the inequality of full moon and new moon spring tidal ranges. The paired fines may represent two neap tidal mud accumulations separated by a thin new moon spring tidal sand. The thick accumulations of sand present between paired muds may be the result of common erosive removal of deposited muds, or may reflect the bulk of large scale sandy bedforms, with muds accumulating only in the troughs between.

### DISCUSSION

# CYCLICITY OF HETEROLITHIC CHARACTER

The dominant order of cyclicity within the presented IHS species is interpreted to be annual. While no single, irrefutable piece of evidence exists to back up this interpretation, there is an abundance of circumstantial evidence.

One line of evidence relies on a comparison with modern settings. Studies from modern estuarine systems suggest that the dominant order on which depositional character varies is annual, influenced by seasonal variation in fluvial influx and water circulation (Meade, 1972; Nichols, 1977; Allen et al, 1980; Uncles and Stephens, 1993, and Lesourd et al. 2003). The variation in water circulation and sedimentation reported in these studies is in good agreement with the variation in sedimentological and ichnological character seen within IHS of the McMurray Formation. For example, the character of mud deposits within the various species of IHS vary from finely laminated with tidal character, to those which are composed of dense, structureless mud. This reflects the variable character seen in the turbidity maxima of modern riverine estuaries under differing fluvial inflow. The character of associated fine and coarse members also suggests that the heterogeneity of depositional character is driven by changes in fluvial input and water circulation dynamics. Muds with tidal character are seen with sands displaying fluvial character, and muds with fluidly deposited character are seen with

clean, well sorted sands suggestive of tidal deposition.

Fortnightly and diurnal tidal signature are commonly observed subordinate to the main order of cyclicity. This demonstrates that the main dynamics of heterogeneity took place with a lower frequency. Patterns of bioturbation also point away from a tidal periodicity for the IHS. The distinctly different patterns of colonization typical of fine and coarse member deposition indicate that each took place over a period sufficiently long as to allow for colonization and exploitation by contrasting groups of organisms. If the periodicity were fortnightly tidal, only 7 days would be available for the colonization of each member. This period would be too short to have allowed for the formation of distinct coarse member and fine member communities. Were inclined unit development to take place on a fortnightly time scale, one would expect to see a common alternation of thick and thin units, reflecting the inequality of new moon and full moon spring tides. This has not been observed. The amount of sediment which accumulated in each of the inclined units also indicates that deposition under fortnightly tidal variation is unreasonable. Within Lithosome C, for example, inclined unit thickness of 15 cm and dip of 6° are typical. Using simple trigonometry, this reflects lateral bank accretion of roughly 1.5 m per inclined unit. Channel migration of 1.5 m on an annual basis seems intuitively reasonable. If inclined unit development took place on a fortnightly cycle, however, this would reflect an annual channel migration of approximately 36 m.

While the dominant order of cyclicity is taken to be annual, inter-annual variation is also likely to have played a role in driving heterogeneity. Low recurrence storm events and variation in the dynamics of annual fluvial discharge are two examples of processes which may drive inequality of annual deposition. Inter-annual cyclicity would likely play a major role at the ends of the system, where fluvial and marine influence are most strongly expressed, leading to the amalgamation of high energy inclined unit components (Knishern and Kuehl, 2003). Towards the center of the system, however, the buffering effect of estuarine circulation would have tended to filter out much of this influence.

### VARIATION IN CHARACTER ALONG A CONCEPTUAL RIVERINE ESTUARY

IHS from the McMurray Formation display substantial, but structured, variability with respect to lithic and ichnologic character. The sedimentologic character of the IHS lithosomes show clear organization with respect to fluvial and tidal influence. Additionally, the occurrence and morphology of ichnofossils reflect systematic spatial and temporal variation in salinity and turbidity stress. By integrating sedimentologic and ichnologic lines of reasoning, the character of these IHS lithosomes can be resolved into a fluvial to marine gradient.

The 5 lithosomes of IHS presented fit into such a gradient, and have been presented in a landward to basinward order. A summary of the character of each lithosome is presented in Table 2.3, and Figure 2.28 illustrates the spatio-temporal relationship in deposition between them. The lithosomes have been arranged in a conceptual system, and do not reflect a single system that has been stratigraphically correlated. Such an exercise would be extremely difficult given the stratigraphic complexity of the McMurray Formation, and is beyond the scope of this study. Additionally, this model is not intended to encompass all variants of IHS seen within the McMurray Formation, as many are interpreted to have accumulated in positions outside of the main riverine channel of the estuarine system (more on this subsequenctly).

In this model IHS character falls into a broadly tripartite distribution, with a sand-dominated seaward flux in the upper reach, a muddy zone of convergent flux in the middle reach, and sand-dominated landward flux in the lower reach. This tripartite distribution reflects superimposed fluvial and tidal energy gradients that decay in opposing directions. The sand dominated IHS deposits from each end of the system contrast strongly in terms of texture, structure, biogenic signature, and stratal organization. Similarly, fine members from the central portion of the system exhibit a

|   | Lithosome A  | Lithosome B  | Lithosome C  | Lithosome D   | Lithosome E  |
|---|--|--|--|---|--|
| Coarse Member<br>Character                                  | poorly sorted vfL-fL<br>sizable cross-beds<br>throughout                   | moderately sorted silt-fL<br>texture inconsistent<br>between beds<br>1 - 3 cm cross-lamination     | well sorted silt-vfU<br>fine interlaminated to<br>rare clean sand                        | well sorted silt-vfU<br>clean, ripple cross-<br>laminated                                     | mod. to well sorted vfL-fL<br>tidal x-beds and ripple x-<br>lamination<br>oscil. ripples near top            |
| Fine Member<br>Character                                    | inconsistently developed<br>starved for silt/sand<br>local tidal cyclicity | lenticular interlamination<br>of mud and silt/sand<br>tidal cyclicity and mud<br>doublets common   | dense to parallel<br>laminated silty mud<br>local fine sand                              | thin dense silty mud<br>layers and coarsely<br>interlaminated mud and<br>silt/sand            | coarsely interlaminated<br>mud and silt/sand<br>typically highly burrow<br>reworked                          |
| Coarse Member<br>Ichnology                                  | devoid of evident<br>burrowing   | rare indistinct mottling<br>some muddy burrows<br>and <i>Palaeophycus</i><br>subtending from fines | variable abundance<br>Planolites & Teichichnus<br>lesser Cylindrichnus and<br>Chondrites | moderate abundance<br>Cylindrichnus, Skolithos<br>and indistinct mottling                     | low to high abundance<br>Skolithos, Cylindrichnus,<br>Palaeophycus, fugichnia<br>and indistinct mottling     |
| Fine Member<br>Ichnology                                    | rare Planolites  | moderate abundance<br><i>Planolites</i> dominant   | variable abundance<br><i>Planolites</i> dominant<br>often concentrated on<br>mud tops    | moderate abundance<br>Planotlites with lesser<br>Teichichnus, Cylindrichnus,<br>and Skolithos | low to high abundance<br>Planolites, Chondrites,<br>Teichichnus, Thalassinoides<br>& epicnial pits & furrows |
| Thickness and<br>Consistency of<br>Couplets                 | 5 - 100 cm<br>very inconsistent  | 10 - 20 cm<br>fairly consistent  | 5 - 20 cm<br>very consistent in a given<br>set   | 5 - 100 cm<br>very inconsistent   | 5 - 100 cm<br>very inconsistent  |
| Stability of Strata<br>Organisation                         | very unstable  | direction stable<br>inclination somewhat<br>variable   | smooth, gradual changes<br>punctuated by small<br>inconsistencies - slumps?              | very stable   | very unstable, particularly<br>at base of succession   |
| Relative Abundance<br>of Coarse and Fine<br>Member Material | strongly dominated by coarse member material                               | upward change from<br>coarse to fine member<br>dominated in each set                               | moderately to strongly<br>dominated by fine<br>member material                           | strongly dominated by coarse member material  | dominated by coarse<br>member material, upward<br>increase in fines  |
|   |  |  |  |   |  |

Table 2.3. Comparison of the character observed in each of the IHS lithosomes.

**Figure 2.28.** Diagramatic representation of the spatio-temporal link of depositional style within the riverine estuary. Red regions link depositional character associated with high river discharge and strong density circulation. Blue regions link depositional character associated with low river discharge, and strong tidal circulation. During periods of high river discharge, the head of the system experiences coarse member deposition characterized by poorly sorted, fluvially sourced sand, and a paucity of bioturbation. Towards the mouth of the system, deposition of fines from a high concentration turbidity maximum takes place. During periods of low flow, the head of the system experiences deposition of fines from a tidally maintained turbidity maximum, associated with rapidly fluctuating salinity, and low diversity, largely endogenic burrowing. Towards the mouth, coarse member deposition takes place under the influence of strong tidal currents. Relatively high and stable salinity allows the colonization of the sediment by organisms open to the water column, but an unstable substrate and common physical reworking may limit the preservation of related burrows. Note that sedimentation in Lithosome E, interpreted to have been deposited seaward of the channelized system, exhibits no clear relation to the dynamics within the channel.



progression of character from dense mud to finely interlaminated silt/sand and mud in a landward direction.

As this model provides a predictive and interpretive tool, useful in vectoring IHS character within a depositional system, it may prove extremely useful in fleshing out stratigraphic relationships within the McMurray Formation and similar deposits. As such, the model may aid greatly in the exploration for, and exploitation of high grade bitumen reservoirs within the Athabasca Oil Sands.

#### FIRM GROUND BURROWING

Within Lithosome C, and occurrences transitional into Lithosomes B and D, sharp, scoured contacts between dense mud beds and superjacent sand beds are quite common. Often associated with these contacts are robust, sand filled burrows subtending from the contact into the underlying dense mud (Fig. 2.29). The fact that these burrows display a passive fill derived from the overlying sand, without significant collapse of the burrow structure, indicates that the mud was fairly firm at the time of colonization, and thus able to support an open burrow network. The scouring and colonization of a firm mud substrate implies that there was a hiatal period between deposition of the mud and the subsequent sand, a situation analogous to the development of a *Glossifungites* surface (MacEachern et al., 1992).

The development of such contacts takes place with four stages (Fig. 2.30). First, a dense mud accumulates through deposition from a dense, fairly stable turbidity maximum fed through density circulation. Second, the mud must be firmed, which likely takes place under the influence of both gravity induced compaction and synaeresis driven water removal. This takes place as density circulation drops off and more saline waters move in. Third, any loose mud present at the top of the accumulation is removed through the scouring effects of strengthening tidal flow, presenting a firm mud substrate for colonization. Lastly, bedload sand is reintroduced to the area, extinguishing or displacing

67.83 87

Figure 2.29. Examples of firm ground burrowing penetrating the tops of dense mud units. The presence of a passive sand fill in the burrows indicates that at the time of burrowing, the muds were firm enough to support an open burrow network.



Figure 2.30. Stages in the generation of a firm ground burrow suite. (A) Deposition of a dense, fluid mud. (B) Scour and deflation of the poorly consolidated surficial layer. (C) Colonization of the firm substrate. (D) The influx of sand, displacing or killing the burrowing organisms and filling their burrows.

the burrowers, and filling their burrows.

The burrowing requires a hiatal period between the scouring of the mud surface and the onset of sand deposition. This is easily accommodated within the riverine estuary model if one considers the effect of a dense mud blanketing a significant reach of the estuarine channel (Fig. 2.31). As such a layer would blanket both the banks and the base of the channel, no bedload material would be available locally for redistribution as tidal High Fluvial Discharge



Figure 2.31. Stages in the generation of a scoured mud surface in the estuarine channel. (A) Deposition of dense mud from the turbidity maximum during high river discharge. This deposition will blanket the entire channel over a certain reach, fixing any bedload material beneath the surface. (B) Scouring of the deposited mud by tidally driven flow as river discharge falls off. (C) Return to conditions of bedload transport and deposition as coarse material is driven in from the inlet end of the system, and the mud armor on cutbanks is breached.

flow strength increases. The surface of the mud would thus be scoured and left exposed for a significant period until bedload material is either swept in from the marine end of the blanketed area, or the erosive breach of the mud blanket armoring the cutbank yields a local source of sand.

While this situation yields a firm ground burrow suite analogous to the *Glossifungites* ichnofacies, the resulting surfaces are generated on a repeated basis (annually) within an overall depositional, rather than erosive, setting. Additionally, they are of local scope, rather than regional. While these occurrences offer insight into the

dynamics of deposition, they have no stratigraphic implication.

# FACTORS COMPLICATING THE MODEL

The model presented is intended to deal with the marginal marine, estuarine end of a major continental drainage network, and as such many IHS variants present in the McMurray Formation are extraneous to it. The estuarine environment contains a diverse assortment of tidally influenced channels: main river fed channels, tributary drainage systems which join the main river systems within the tidally influenced realm, tidal creeks feeding and draining tidal flats and subtidal channels in the outer estuary (Fig. 2.32). As tidal creeks and outer estuarine subtidal channels are not directly linked to a fluvial source, they are not subject to the direct effects of variable river discharge. Tributary drainage networks may not exert enough influence over water circulation and sedimentation dynamics within the system to be self-governed in depositional character. Figure 2.33 illustrates how the dynamics of such tributary systems are likely to be overwhelmed by influence from the main fluvial-estuarine system they join.

Additional complexity is added to a universal IHS model through the existence of three distinct sediment provenances during deposition of the McMurray Formation. A large drainage system is interpreted to have fed the basin from the southeast (Christopher, 1980; Ranger and Pemberton 1997), with several smaller drainage networks entering from carbonate highlands to the west and the Precambrian Shield to the east (Fig. 2.34). Systems draining each of these three areas would contrast in size, gradient, volume and flashiness of discharge, the character of their sediment load and water chemistry. As a result, the character of IHS deposited in systems linked to each of the three different source areas is likely to exhibit significant contrast.

#### STACKING OF IHS PACKAGES

Broadly consistent IHS successions in excess of 30 m thick are reasonably



**Figure 2.32.** The relation of various channelized environments within the greater estuarine system to the model presented. The model presented in this paper is intended to address deposition within the main riverfed channel (green). The deposits of tributary drainage systems (yellow) may bear significant resemblance to the model, but will differ owing to several factors. Provenance of the drainage area will lead to variation between systems in the nature of sediment supplied and the dynamics of river discharge. Additionally, circulation and landward directed sediment supply in each of these smaller systems may be influenced by the water circulation effects of the larger system. The deposits of subtidal channels within the estuarine embayment and small tidal creeks draining intertidal flats (red) will bear no resemblance to the model. These two channel types have no connection to continental drainage, and thus are not directly affected by fluvial discharge.





common within the McMurray Formation. The classic interpretation of such successions is that they were deposited as one genetic unit by lateral accretion on the banks of deep channels. Several lines of evidence suggest this interpretation is flawed, however. A review of relevant literature shows that the deposits of modern tidally influenced channels rarely exceed 15 m in thickness. Similarly, other IHS-bearing deposits in the rock record are typically on the order of 5 - 15 m in thickness (Table 3.2). These values contrast significantly with the model of Mossop and Flach (1983), which appeals to the action of 20 - 45 m deep channels in depositing McMurray Formation IHS and the underlying megaripple bedded sands.



Figure 2.34. Drainage networks from three distinct source areas fed sedimentation within the McMurray Subbasin. (1) A large low gradient system draining much of southern and central Saskatchewan. This system would have had damped flashiness of floods, and introduced texturally and mineralogically mature poly-cyclic sediment sourced from Jurassic clastics in Saskatchewan. (2) Local, moderate to high gradient systems draining resistant carbonate highlands to the west. These systems would have had flashy floods and been starved for bedload siliciclastic material. (3) Local to regional, low to moderate gradient systems draining areas of the Precambrian Shield. These systems would have had flashy floods, and introduced texturally and mineralogically immature sediment.

While thick successions of IHS with broadly consistent character and stratal organization are present in core and featured prominently in several key outcrops, other encountered successions display significantly different character. Many examined successions consist of stacked sets of IHS with consistent orientation, but contrasting sediment character. Other successions are remarkably consistent in sediment character, but contain clear discontinuities across which the orientation of the IHS changes significantly. This implies that the stacking of discrete sets of IHS to form thick successions is the norm. Indeed, when thick successions with consistent sediment character and stratal organization are examined in detail, subtle but significant discontinuities are commonly identified.

The megaripple bedded sands that typically underlie the IHS in outcrop have been classically interpreted as basal deposition from the deep IHS generating channels (Mossop and Flach, 1983), an interpretation which is still applied by some (e.g. Brekke and Evoy, 2004; Strobl et al., 2004). These sands, however, can be shown to have no direct depositional relationship with the IHS. The deep channel model, with its tie between the IHS and the megarippled sands, was based on outcrop (of Lithosome D) along the Athasabasca and Steepbank Rivers. In core, however, examined intervals of Lithosome D display no association with such sands. Indeed, when outcrop along the Athabasca River is examined, a clearly erosive contact is observed between the clean sands and the overlying IHS, marked by the development of a granular lag with siderited clasts along the surface (Fig. 2.35). Additionally, discontinuities within the overlying IHS are present (Fig. 2.36).

# INCISED VALLEY DEPOSITIONAL MODEL

A model is needed to explain how such stacked deposits accumulated with an organized relationship. Such a model must include aggradation of the system to explain the stacking, and also explain how the IHS sets may be stacked with consistent

**Figure 2.35.** Erosional contact between megaripple bedded sand and IHS (Lithosome D) in outcrop along the Athabasca River. (A) General view with granular sand at the base of the IHS succession sitting atop fine sand of the megarippled facies. (B) Close up of the contact showing a concentration of sideritized pebbles. Rare *Conichnus* are present in the megarippled sands. This is significant, as the group of anemones to which *Conichnus* are attributed are not tolerant of significantly reduced salinity. This implies that the megaripple bedded sand was deposited under near marine salinity. (C) Close up of the contact showing sizable sideritized clasts.


**Figure 2.36.** Discontinuities within a succession of IHS in outcrop along the Athabasca River. (A) While appearing superficially as a single set of IHS, this succession can be broken down into a series of stacked muddying upwards units. This outcrop face offers an oblique strike view. (B) A dip section view taken across the gulley from (A) reveals a stacking relationship between IHS units involving both vertical and lateral components, with clear angular discordance.



**Figure 2.36 cont.** Discontinuities within a succession of IHS in outcrop along the Athabasca River. (**C**, **D**) Outcrop views highlighting low angle truncation between upward muddying units outlined in (A).



Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

orientation. An incised valley fill model may fulfill both of these requirements. While the repeated entrenchment and infill of valleys during McMurray Formation deposition has been proposed previously (e.g. Stewart and MacCallum, 1978; Ranger and Pemberton, 1997), it has not been used previously to explain the organized stacking of IHS sets.

The transgressive infill of a valley easily provides the required aggradation of the estuarine system, and may explain the locally observed relationship between the IHS and underlying trough cross-bedded sands as well. With initial transgression of the valley, a tidally driven outer estuarine sand wave complex may be established near the mouth of the valley, as the reduction of channel gradient leads to the large scale entrapment of fluvially sourced sediment further inland. When the system comes into adjustment with a marginal marine gradient, the channelized portion of the estuarine system progrades over the outer estuarine, sand wave deposits. This yields the relationship observed between the megarippled sand and IHS in several outcrops (Fig. 2.37). As the dynamics of transgression would vary from one episode of valley fill to another, the development of the megarippled sands would not have been universal, and would have taken place over a limited length of the valley.

As aggradation took place within the valley, some factor must have limited the migration of the tidal river to generate the stable dip orientation commonly seen within successions. One possibility is that combined lateral and vertical accretion of the channel in the outer, straight reaches led to the filling of the valley with a single IHS set significantly thicker than the causative channel (Fig. 2.38F). A second possibility involves the migration of the channel within a "narrow" confining valley. If the natural meandering amplitude of the channel exceeded the width of the valley in which is was found, the migration of the channel would be limited by the form of the valley. If the valley itself had a meandering form, the migration of the channel would be limited to movement from the inside to the outside of valley bends. Organized stacking of IHS sets may also have been influenced through the anisotropic erosional susceptibility of mud-bearing IHS.



**Figure 2.37.** Comparison of the deep channel model and an incised valley fill model for middle McMurray IHS complex deposition. The deep channel model implies that the entire succession from the base of the megarippled sands to the top of the IHS (locally 40 m thick) was deposited by the action of a single, deep meandering channel. Megarippled sand deposition would have taken place at the base of the channel, while IHS was deposited on a contemporaneous point bar. The incised valley fill model implies that deposition of the succession took place in stages, as base level rose. The locally present megarippled sands would have been deposited in an outer estuarine sand wave complex after initial inundation of the valley. Subsequent progradation and aggradation of the estuarine system would lead to deposition of stacked channel deposits for the remainder of the valley fill. Modified after Mossop and Flach (1983).

**Figure 2.38.** Restriction of channel migration within an entrenched valley. (**A**, **B**) On bends in the valley, point bars build out only from the inside valley wall, thus limiting the orientation of IHS dips such that they are inclined to the outside of the bend. Near inflection points, IHS may be inclined to either side of the valley. (**C**) Where meanders migrate down valley, the orientation of IHS will be limited to an oblique inclination down valley. (**D**) Where the channel width is large relative to the valley width, point bars generally don't build out past the center of the valley, thus limiting the orientation of the IHS dips such that they are inclined to the center of the valley. (**E**) The formation and repeated occupation of discrete "meander pods". (E1) Fluvial bypass and valley entrenchment in semi-consolidated sediment. (E2) The onset of meandering leads to cutting of "meander pods". (E3) Valley form controls the locus and orientation of meanders through subsequent aggradational infill of the valley. (**F**) Through a smooth combination of lateral and vertical accretion, a continuous set of IHS can be generated which significantly exceeds the thickness of the causative channel. In this schematic, the set thickness as penetrated at point "x" exceeds the thickness of the causative channel, "d", by a factor of 2.5.



#### CONCLUSIONS

IHS from the McMurray Formation displays substantial variability with respect to lithic and ichnologic character. The distribution and morphology of ichnofossils reflect systematic spatial and temporal variation in salinity and turbidity stress. By applying concepts gleaned through the study of modern estuarine systems, deposit character can be resolved into a fluvial to marine gradient. IHS character falls into a broadly tripartite distribution, with a sand-dominated seaward flux in the upper reach, a fine-grained zone of convergent flux in the middle reach, and sand-dominated landward flux in the lower reach. The sand dominated IHS deposits from each end of the system contrast strongly in terms of texture, structure, biogenic signature, and stratal organization. Similarly, fine members from the central portion of the system exhibit a progression of character from dense mud to finely interlaminated silt/sand and mud in a landward direction.

Not all occurrences of IHS within the McMurray Formation can be resolved into a fluvial to marine gradient, as many channels within the estuarine environment are not discretely linked to continental drainage. The situation is further complicated by the existence of numerous fluvial systems entering the marginal marine realm at different positions along the axis of the main system. Each of these continental drainage systems would have had differing provenance and discharge dynamics.

The dominant order of cyclicity within the IHS is annual, with subordinate semidiurnal and fortnightly tidal signature locally evident. The heterogeneity of the sediment character is influenced largely through seasonal variation in fluvial discharge, and the evolution of estuarine water circulation and sediment flux that results. Interannual variation in allocyclic forcing may have led to the inconsistent character of inclined units observed in IHS deposits from the ends of the channelized system.

Firm ground ichnofossil suites are developed internal to some variants of IHS, but do not carry with them any stratigraphic implication.

Successions of superficially consistent IHS can attain great thicknesses, but are typically broken by subtle discontinuities into several smaller depositional units. The megaripple bedded sands, which are often present at the base of such successions, are not directly related to, or co-depositional with, the IHS. These successions thus represent accumulations of loosely related, stacked depositional units, rather than the deposits of a single channel sweep. An incised valley fill model adequately explains the observed relationships.

#### REFERENCES

- Allen, G.P., 1991, Sedimentary processes and facies in the Gironde estuary a recent model for macrotidal estuarine systems: *in* Smith, D.G., G.E. Reinson, B.A.
  Zaitlain and R.A. Rahmani (eds.), Clastic tidal sedimentology, Canadian Society of Petroleum Geologists, Memoir 16, p. 29-40.
- Allen, G.P., H.C. Salomon, P. Bassoullet, Y. du Penhoat and C. de Grandpre, 1980, Effects of tides on mixing and suspended sediment transport in macrotidal estuaries: Sedimentary Geology, v. 26, p. 69-90.
- Barwis, J.H., 1978, Sedimentology of some South Carolina tidal creek point bars, and a comparison with their fluvial counterparts: *in* Miall, A.D. (ed.), Fluvial sedimentology, Canadian Society of Petroleum Geologists, Memoir #5, 129-160.
- Bechtel, D.J., C.N. Yuill, M.J. Ranger and S.G. Pemberton, 1994, Ichnology of inclined heterolithic stratification of the McMurray Formation, northeastern Alberta: *in* Pemberton, S.G., D.P. James, and D.M. Wightman (eds.), Manville Core Conference, Canadian Society of Petroleum Geologists Exploration Update, p.351-368.
- Brekke, H. and R. Evoy, 2004, Use of dipmeter data in the definition of the internal architecture of point bar deposits in the Athabasca Oilsands- Implications for the middle McMurray Formation in the Hangingstone area, Alberta: abstracts volume,

American Association of Petroleum Geologists Annual Convention, p. 17.

- Carrigy, M.A., 1959, Geology of the McMurray Formation, Part III, general geology of the McMurray area: Alberta Research Council, Memoir I, 130 p.
- Carrigy, M.A., 1971, Deltaic sedimentation in Athabasca Tar Sands: American Association of Petroleum Geologists Bulletin, v. 55, p. 1155-1169.
- Chappel, J., 1993, Contrasting Holocene sedimentary geologies of lower Daly River, northern Australia, and lower Sepik-Ramu, Papua New Guinea: Sedimentary Geology, v. 83, p. 339-358.
- Christopher, J.E., 1980, The Lower Cretaceous Mannville Group of Saskatchewan
   A tectonic overview: *in* Beck, L.S., J.E. Christopher and D.M. Kent (eds.),
  Lloydminster and beyond Geology of Mannville hydrocarbon reservoirs.
  Saskatchewan Geological Society, special paper #5, p. 3-32.
- Ciffroy, P., Reyss, J. and F. Siclet, 2003, Determination of the residence time of suspended particles in the turbidity maximum of the Loire estuary by <sup>7</sup>Be analysis: Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, v. 57, p. 553-568.
- Coleman, J.M. and L.D. Wright, 1978, Sedimentation in an arid macrotidal alluvial river system: Ord River, western Australia: Journal of Geology, v. 86, p. 631-642.
- Dalrymple, R.W., B.A. Zaitlin and R. Boyd, 1992, Estuarine facies models Conceptual basis and stratigraphic implications: Journal of Sedimentary Petrology, v. 62, p. 1130-1146.
- Dellapenna, T.M., S.A Kuehl and L.C. Schaffner, 2003, Ephemeral deposition, seabed mixing and fine-scale strata formation in the York River Estuary, Chesapeake Bay: Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, v. 58, p. 621-643.
- de Mowbray, T., 1983, The genesis of lateral accretion deposits in recent intertidal mudflat channels, Solway Firth, Scotland: Sedimentology, v. 30, p. 425-435.
- Dyer, K.D., 1986, Coastal and estuarine sediment dynamics. John Wiley and Sons Ltd. p. 202-265.

Eberth, D.A., 1996, Origin and significance of mud-filled incised valleys (Upper Cretaceous) in southern Alberta, Canada: Sedimentology, v. 43, p. 459-477.

- Eberth, D.A., 2001, Stratigraphy, sedimentology, and paleoecology of the upper Judith River Group at Dinosaur Provincial Park: Student Industry Field Trip guidebook, Canadian Society of Petroleum Geologists, Calgary, 53 p.
- Edwards, M.B., K.A. Eriksson and R.S. Kier, 1983, Paleochannel geometry and flow patterns determined from exhumed Permian point bars in north-central Texas: Journal of Sedimentary Petrology, v. 53, p. 1261-1270.
- Einstein, H.A. and R.B. Krone, 1962, Experiments to determine modes of cohesive sediment transport in salt water: Journal of Geophysical Research, v. 67, p. 1451-1461.
- Flach, P.D. and G.D. Mossop, 1985, Depositional environments of Lower Cretaceous McMurray Formation, Athabasca Oil Sands, Alberta: American Association of Petroleum Geologists Bulletin, v. 69, p. 1195-1207.
- Frey, R.W. and J.D. Howard, 1986, Mesotidal estuarine sequences a perspective from the Georgia Bight: Journal of Sedimentary Petrology, v. 56, p. 911-924.
- Gelfenbaum, G., 1983, Suspended-sediment response to semidiurnal and fortnightly tidal variations in a mesotidal estuary Columbia River, U.S.A: Marine Geology, v. 52, p.39-57.
- Howard J.D., C.A. Elders and J.F. Heinbokel, 1975, Estuaries of the Georgia Coast,
  U.S.A. sedimentology and biology. V. Animal-sediment relationships in estuarine point bar deposits, Ogeechee River-Ossabaw Sound, Georgia:
  Senckenbergiana Maritima, v. 7, p. 181-203
- Ikeda, H., 1989, Sedimentary controls on channel migration and origin of point bars in sand-bedded meandering rivers: *in* Ikeda, S. and G. Parker (eds.), River meandering. American Geophysical Union, Washington, p. 51-68.

Jackson, R.G., 1976, Depositional model of point bars in the lower Wabash River:

Journal of Sedimentary Petrology, v. 46, p. 579-594.

- Kniskern, T.A. and S.A. Kuehl, 2003, Spatial and temporal variability of seabed
  disturbance in the York River subestuary: Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, v.
  58, p. 37-55.
- Knox, G.A., 1986, Estuarine ecosystems A systems approach volume I: C.R.C. Press, Boca Raton, 289 p.
- Kranck, K., 1981, Particulate matter grain-size characteristics and flocculation in a partially mixed estuary: Sedimentology, v. 28, p. 107-114.
- Lavigne, J.M., 1999, Sedimentology, stratigraphy and ichnoloy of the Cretaceous Horseshoe Canyon Formation: Unpublished M.Sc. thesis, University of Alberta, Edmonton, 146 p.
- Lesourd, S., P. Lesueur, J.C. Brun-Cottan, S. Garnaud, and N. Poupinet, 2003, Seasonal variations in the characteristics of superficial sediments in a macrotidal estuary (the Seine inlet, France): Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, v. 58, p. 3-16.
- MacEachern, J.A., I. Raychaudhuri and S.G. Pemberton, 1992, Stratigraphic applications of the *Glossifungites* ichnofacies delineating discontinuities in the rock record: *in* Pemberton, S.G. (ed.), Applications of ichnology to petroleum exploration. Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists, Core Workshop #17, p. 169-198.
- Meade, R.H., 1972, Transport and deposition of sediments in estuaries: *in* B.W. Nelsonn (ed.), Environmental framework of coastal plain estuaries. Geological Society of America, Memoir #133, p. 91-120.
- Mossop, G.D., 1980, Facies control on bitumen saturation in the Athabasca Oil Sands: *in*Miall, A.D. (ed.), Facts and principles of world petroleum occurrence. Canadian
  Society of Petroleum Geologists, Memoir 6, p. 609-632.
- Mossop, G.D. and P.D. Flach, 1983, Deep channel sedimentation in the Lower Cretaceous McMurray Formation, Athabasca Oil Sands, Alberta. Sedimentology,

v. 30, p. 493-509.

- Nelson, H.W. and R.P. Glaister, 1978, Subsurface environmental facies and reservoir relationships of the McMurray Oil Sands, northeastern Alberta: Bulletin of Canadian Petroleum Geology, v. 26, p. 177-207.
- Nichols, M.M., 1977, Response and recovery of an estuary following a river flood: Journal of Sedimentary Petrology, v. 47, p. 1171-1186.
- Odgaard, A.J., 1987, Streambank erosion along two rivers in Iowa: Water Resources Research, v. 23, p. 1225-1236.
- Pemberton, S.G., P.D. Flach and G.D. Mossop, 1982, Trace fossils from the Athabasca Oil Sands, Alberta, Canada: Science, v. 217, p. 825-827.
- Postma, H., 1967, Sediment transport and sedimentation in the estuarine environment: *in* Lauff, G.H. (ed.), Estuaries: sediments and sedimentation. American Association for the Advancement of Science, p. 158-179.
- Pryor, W.A., 1975, Biogenic sedimentation and alteration of argillaceous sediments in shallow marine environments: Geological Society of America Bulletin, v. 86, p. 1244-1254.
- Rahmani, R.A., 1988, Estuarine tidal channel and nearshore sedimentation of the Late Cretaceous epicontinental sea, Drumheller, Alberta, Canada: *in* de Boer, P.L., A. van Gelder and S.D. Nio (eds.), Tide-influenced sedimentary environments and facies. Reidel Publishing Company, p. 433-471.
- Ranger, M.J. and S.G. Pemberton, 1992, The sedimentology and ichnology of estuarine point bars in the McMurray Formation of the Athabasca Oil Sands deposit, northeastern Alberta, Canada: *in* Pemberton, S.G. (ed.), Applications of ichnology to petroleum exploration. Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists, core workshop no. 17, p. 401-421.
- Ranger, M.J. and S.G. Pemberton, 1997, Elements of a stratigraphic framework for the McMurray Formation in south Athabasca area, Alberta: *in* Pemberton, S.G. and

D.P. James (eds.), Petroleum geology of the Cretaceous Mannville Group, western Canada. Canadian Society of Petroleum Geologists, Memoir 18, p. 263-291.

- Ranger, M.J. and M.K. Gingras, 2003, Geology of the Athabasca Oil Sands field guide and overview: Canadian Society of Petroleum Geologists, Calgary, 123 p.
- Ryer, T.A. and A.W. Langer, 1980, Thickness change involved in the peat-to-coal transformation for bituminous coal of Cretaceous age in Central Utah: Journal of Sedimentary Petrology, vol. 50, p. 987-992
- Smith, D.G., 1987, Meandering river point bar lithofacies models Modern and ancient examples compared: *in* Etheridge, F.G., R.M. Flores and M.D. Harvey (eds.),
  Recent developments in fluvial sedimentology. SEPM special paper #39, p. 83-91.
- Smith, D.G., 1988a, Tidal bundles and mud couplets in the McMurray Formation, northeastern Alberta, Canada: Bulletin of Canadian Petroleum Geology, v. 36, p. 216-219.
- Smith, D.G., 1988b, Modern point bar deposits analogous to the Athabasca Oil Sands, Alberta, Canada: *in* de Boer, P.L., A. van Gelder and S.D. Nio (eds.), Tideinfluenced sedimentary environments and facies. Reidel Publishing Company, p. 417-432.
- Stelck, C.R. and J.W. Kramers, 1980, *Freboldiceras* from the Grand Rapids Formation, north central Alberta: Bulletin of Canadian Petroleum Geology, v. 28, p. 509-521.
- Stewart, G.A. and G.T. MacCallum, 1978, Athabasca Oil Sands guide book: CSPG international conference, facts and principles of world oil occurrence, Canadian Society of Petroleum Geologists, Calgary, Alberta, 33 p.

Strobl, R., D. Wightman and S. Youn, 2004, A predictive model for identifying high quality S.A.G.D. oil sands reservoirs? Observations from the EnCana Foster Creek and Christina Lake projects: Oral presentation, Canadian Society of Petroleum Geologists – Canadian Heavy Oil Association – Canadian Well Logging Society Joint Conference, Calgary, Alberta.

- Thomas, R.D., D.G. Smith, J.M. Wood, J. Visser, E.A. Calverly-Range and E.H. Koster, 1987, Inclined heterolithic stratification terminology, description, interpretation and significance: Sedimentary Geology, v. 53, p. 123-179.
- Terwindt, J.H.J. and H.N.C. Breusers, 1972, Experiments on the origin of flaser and sandclay alternating bedding: Sedimentology, v. 19, p. 85-98.
- Uncles, R.J. and J.A. Stephens, 1993, Nature of the turbidity maximum in the Tamar Estuary, U.K: Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, v. 36, p. 413-431.
- Wightman, D.M. and S.G. Pemberton, 1997, The Lower Cretaceous (Aptian) McMurray
  Formation An overview of the Fort McMurray area, northeastern Alberta: *in*Pemberton, S.G. and D.P. James (eds.), Petroleum geology of the Cretaceous
  Mannville Group, western Canada. Canadian Society of Petroleum Geologists,
  Memoir 18, p. 312-344.
- Wood, J.M., 1989, Alluvial architecture of the Upper Cretaceous Judith River Formation,
   Dinosaur Provincial Park, Alberta, Canada: Bulletin of Canadian Petroleum
   Geology, v. 37, p. 169-181.
- Woodroffe, C.D., J. Chappell, B.G. Thom and E. Wallensky, 1989, Depositional model of a macrotidal estuary and floodplain, South Alligator River, Northern Australia: Sedimentology, v. 36, p. 737-756.
- Wright, L.D., J.M. Coleman and B.G. Thom, 1975, Sediment transport and deposition in a macrotidal river channel – Ord River, western Australia: *in* Cronin, L.E. (ed.), Estuarine research volume II – geology and engineering. Academic Press, p. 309-321.

# CHAPTER 3 – THE MORPHOLOGY AND PALEOENVIRONMENTAL SIGNIFICANCE OF *Spirascensus conferti*: A PREVIOUSLY UNDESCRIBED HELICAL ICHNOFOSSIL FROM THE LOWER CRETACEOUS OF WESTERN CANADA

#### INTRODUCTION

Within the Lower Cretaceous McMurray Formation of northeastern Alberta (Fig. 3.1), the accretionary bank deposits of tidally-influenced channels are very common. In 2002, a core-based study was initiated to catalogue and interpret the variation present within these deposits. Through this study, a unique facies was identified with a distinct, anomalous bioturbate texture. This facies consists of thin, mud-rich accretionary bank deposits with a monospecific, highly abundant, assemblage of minute, helical ichnofossils (Fig. 3.2). The diminutive size of the traces, combined with the presence of a pervasive bitumen stain, has made their characterization an involved process.

While no prior detailed examination of these traces has taken place, they have been previously encountered within the Cretaceous Mannville Group of western Canada (Bechtel, 1996; Hubbard, 1999). Within the McMurray Formation, Bechtel (1996) dealt briefly with this ichnofossil, treating it as a variant of *Gyrolithes*.

In an effort to characterize the bioturbate texture, its ethology and paleoenvironmental significance, burrowed intervals from eight well cores and a single outcrop were examined and sampled. Core face examination yielded information on the gross morphology and community behavior of the traces. Examination of thin-sectioned samples provided fine detail on the subtleties of the burrow form.

# STRATIGAPHIC AND ENVIRONMENTAL SETTING

The Lower Cretaceous McMurray Formation hosts most of the bitumen present within the Athabasca Oil Sand Deposit, and as such plays a significant role in energy



Figure 3.1. Geographic and stratigraphic situation of the examined burrowing. (A) Oil sand and heavy oil deposits of Alberta. Core and outcrop examined are from the Athabasca Oil Sand deposit. (B) Stratigraphy of Lower Cretaceous strata within northeast Alberta. Red star marks the approximate stratigraphic location of the examined channel bank deposits. From Ranger and Gingras (2003).

production within North America. The McMurray Formation consists of pulsed transgressive deposits lying unconformably on a Devonian carbonate terrane. Deposition was generally confined to a broad erosional trough cut through differential erosion of the tilted carbonate strata, and the solution removal of evaporitic horizons at depth. The McMurray Formation has been informally divided into lower, middle and upper members



**Figure 3.2.** Channel bank accretion deposits pervasively burrowed by minute, helical ichnofossils. Bottom of core to the lower left, top to upper right, core in 75 cm lengths. Note the inconsistent development of the sediment couplets, and the persistence of the burrow assemblage through the interval. From AA/12-08-96-11 W4.



**Figure 3.3.** Generalized model for the accumulation of inclined heterolithic strata on the accretionary bank of a meandering channel.

(Carrigy, 1959), loosely reflecting continental, estuarine and shoreline depositional environments, respectively (Ranger and Gingras, 2003). These deposits are overlain by glauconitic shoreface sandstone and basinal mudstone of the Clearwater Formation.

Inclined heterolithic stratification deposits (IHS) (Thomas et al., 1987) comprised of rhythmically alternating granular and muddy beds laid down with a significant depositional dip (Fig. 3.3) - form a major component of the estuarine middle McMurray Formation. Through ichnological investigation and comparative work undertaken in modern tidal rivers, the IHS packages have come to be interpreted as the accretionary bank deposits of estuarine channels (Pemberton et al., 1982; Smith, 1987). The dominant order of heterogeneity within the IHS is annual. Cyclic deposition is interpreted to have been generated through seasonal changes in the patterns of estuarine water circulation and sedimentation. Examples of seasonal change in the depositional character of partially mixed estuaries are well documented within modern settings (Allen et al., 1980; Uncles and Stephens, 1993; Lesourd et al., 2003).

The sedimentologic and ichnologic character of IHS packages vary considerably within the McMurray Formation. This diversity of character is attributed to both varying position along tidally influenced channels, and the presence of different channel types within the greater estuary. Each of the examples hosting the helical burrowing dealt with in this paper is composed of fining- and muddying-upward couplets of very fine sand,

silt and clay. Individual couplets are typically 5 - 15 cm thick. Preserved set thicknesses reach 6 m, and dips vary between 2° and 14°, often with an upward-steepening profile. These features indicate that sedimentation took place under active channel migration. Were the IHS deposited within abandoned channels, one would expect a more homolithic fill with lower bedding inclination and an upward-shallowing dip profile (Muwais and Smith, 1990).

The stacking of two or more of these IHS sets is common, often with contrasting stratal orientation between them. The deposits themselves typically contain significant quantities of phytodetrital material and rooting and phytoturbation are occasionally preserved at the top of the sets (Fig. 3.4). Within the single outcrop example, the helically-burrowed IHS interval is overlain by a poorly developed coal. In several examples, these intervals are immediately underlain or overlain by coarse, wood clastbearing sands of interpreted fluvial origin.

#### TAXONOMY

#### Ichnogenus Spirascensus gen. nov.

# Synonymy

*Gyrolithes* var., Bechtel, 1996, pp. 29-33, figs. 9c, 12b; Hubbard, 1999, fig. 2.16c; Harris, 2003, fig. 2.16a,d; Ranger and Gingras, 2003, fig. 82.

#### Etymology

spira (lat.)=coil; ascensus (lat.)=ascent.

#### Type ichnospecies

Spirascensus conferti sp. nov.

**Figure 3.4.** Rooting and phytoturbation at the top of an IHS set burrowed by *Spirascensus conferti*. (A) Overview showing the zone of phytoturbation, and the depth to which discrete roots penetrated. Bottom of core to lower left, top to upper right, core in 75 cm lengths. From AA/05-08-96-11 W4. (B) Close-up view showing discrete coalified roots and the pattern of bioturbation within several sediment couplets. (C) Close-up view illustrating fine aspects of the burrow morphology. Note the presence of a muddy spindle-like structure central to the granular fill of most burrows.



#### Diagnosis

Dextrally of sinistrally coiled, elongate, vertical to inclined burrow with consistent width; fill is active and texturally distinct from host sediment; upward burrow migration may be evident.

#### Distinction from other ichnogenera

Spirascensus is distinguished from Gyrolithes by its active, sorted fill, elongate form and upward migration within rapidly aggraded sediments. Spirascensus lacks the central shaft and spreitenated structure of Spirophyton. While Lapispira is composed of two nested coils joined at the base, Spirascensus has the form of a single coil. Helicorhaphe is a horizontally oriented sole trace. Helicolithus and Helicodromites are horizontally oriented, meandering graphoglyptids.

Spirascensus conferti sp. nov.

#### Etymology

confertum (lat.)=shoulder to shoulder

# Holotype

Figure 4, AA/05-08-96-11W4, 26.0 – 29.5m depth in core.

*Type Locality* 

Fort McMurray, Alberta, Canada.

*Type Substrate* 

Inclined Heterolithic Strata of the informally designated middle member, McMurray Formation.

# Diagnosis

Burrow process less than 1 mm in diameter, whorl diameter less than 3 mm; within heterolithic sediment, burrow fill texture varies inversely with host sediment texture; enriched mud core central to coil and muddy fecal trail central to burrow process may be present with granular burrow fill.

# **OCCURRENCE**

## MORPHOLOGY OF THE TRACES

The textural contrast between host substrate and Spirascensus conferti burrow fill is variably developed as discrete muddy burrow fill in silt/sand and discrete silt/sand fill in mud. Additionally, subvertically banded silt/sand and mud with no clear distinction between host and burrow fill material is seen as a transitional phase. Henceforth, claypoor granular sediment is referred to as sand, and clay-rich sediment is referred to as mud. Burrow character varies systematically through each sediment couplet, reflecting the variation in host sediment texture. The typical succession consists of muddy burrow fill in sandy host sediment towards the base of the couplet, passing through a transitional phase into sandy burrow fill in muddy host sediment towards the top. Many couplets contain only part of this succession, owing to subdued variation in sediment texture. The burrows are present in organized communities, nearly always oriented vertically, or normal to sediment stratification. Individual burrows have typical whorl diameters of <1 to 2 mm. They are distributed with roughly consistent lateral spacing and generally do not intersect. Although individual burrows can rarely be traced for more than 2 to 3 cm due to oblique intersection in core face, consistent burrow communities 10 to 15 cm in vertical thickness are commonly seen. Burrowing is seen to exhibit significant discontinuity of character at the contacts between sediment couplets.

Within sandy host sediment, the longitudinal expression of the burrows is

highlighted by discrete muddy structures in the form of stacked platelets or a tight coil (*sensu* twisted rope) (Fig. 3.5). In the stacked platelet variant the mud is concentrated into separate packets arranged in a discontinuous column. The tight coil variant, however, is composed of a single, continuous muddy structure. In transverse section, the burrows appear as circles or ellipses of mud in the sandy host. When viewed in thin section, the burrow fill is seen to consist of clay and fine silt, contrasting significantly with the host sand, which often reaches upper very fine in grain size.

Where *Spirascensus conferti* is expressed as a sand fill within a muddy host substrate, more complex and varied structure is observed (Fig. 3.6). In longitudinal section, burrows may be expressed simply as a granular column with undulating margins, but mud-defined internal structure is commonly present. In many examples, a thin central spire of mud (occasionally enriched in organic debris) extends the length of the sandy column. This spire may be of consistent width, or show undulatory variation. Where such a central spire is present, the surrounding granular fill occasionally exhibits clear grain alignment, arranged concentrically in circular pods on either side of the spire, or occasionally radiating outwards with a subhorizontal fabric. Thin drapes of mud connecting the central spire to the outside wall of the burrow between the granular burrow process are locally observed. In some cases where fine detail is preserved, a thin mud-enriched trail is seen to follow along the center of the coiling burrow process. This may represent a fecal string extruded into the burrow, as seen with *Phycosiphon*.

Corresponding variation is also seen in transverse sections of the sand filled burrow segments. Some burrows appear as simple sand filled circles in a mud host. In others, the sand is present as a ring or arc around a muddy core (the central spire). In a few burrows, spreiten are observed within the burrow fill, implying lateral migration or sediment packing. Where the sediment contains significant quantities of coarse organic detritus (silt to fine sand in size), this material is commonly enriched in the sandy burrow fill relative to the muddy host sediment. The sandy fill of these burrow segments is often

Figure 3.5. Mud filled *S. conferti* within sandy host sediment. (A, B) Longitudinal expression in core face. Note that the burrow fill may occur as a continuous structure, or as a column of discrete mud packets. (C) Transverse expression along bed partings. Width of core is 6.5 cm. Above are sand filled burrows within a mud host sediment, below mud filled burrows in sand. Note the high density and even areal distribution of the burrows. (D, E) Thin sectioned samples. Note the discontinuous nature of many burrow fills, and the contrast in grain size between the host sediment and the granular component of the burrow fill. (F) Schematic illustrating the variable expression of mud filled burrows.



Figure 3.6. Sand filled S. conferti within muddy host sediment. (A) Oblique longitudinal expression in core face. Note the presence of muddy spindle-like structure central to many burrows, and discrete intersections of the burrow process and core face (inset). (B) Transverse expression along bed partings. Burrows are typically expressed as a ring of sand around a muddy central core. Some burrows exhibit a spreitenated structure (inset), suggestive of lateral migration, or sand packing around the burrow. (C) Schematic illustrating variable expression of sand filled burrows in transverse section. (D) Oblique longitudinal thin section of burrow. Note the repeated intersection of a discrete burrow process with a thin mud trail central to it (solid arrows). Also present is a vertical mud spire central to the coil of the burrow (dashed arrow). (E) Longitudinal thin section of burrowing. While not as pronounced as in (D), a coiled burrow process with a central mud trail is discernable. (F) Transverse thin section of burrowing. Note the inconsistent expression of the central mud spire, and the clustering of some burrows. (G) Longitudinal thin section of burrowing. Note the presence of a thin mud spire in some burrows, and the local deviation of the parallel burrow fabric. (H) Schematic illustrating examples of clear burrow morphology observed in core face. (I) Schematic illustrating examples of clear burrow morphology observed in thin section.



notably coarser than the granular fraction of the muddy host sediment. This implies that the trace maker was redistributing sediment in a vertical sense rather than simply filling its burrow with "cleaned" host sediment.

Where the sediment is transitional in character between sandy and muddy end members, burrows commonly appear as a muddy fill within a sandy sheath, itself surrounded by apparently undisturbed mud (Fig. 3.7). This variant is seen to interfinger vertically with mud filled and sand filled burrow character.

The traces exhibit both dextral and sinistral coiling. While the burrows are typically oriented subvertically in stable substrates, substantial shearing of the burrow fabric is not uncommon, owing to compaction and shearing effects within many of the muddier horizons (Fig. 3.8). The traces are also seen to deflect where they encounter cross-stratified sand, maintaining a roughly surface-normal orientation. The downward deflection of sediment interfaces within the burrow fill is locally apparent, indicating that the trace makers migrated upwards with active sedimentation.

# ORGANIZED COMMUNAL STRUCTURE

One of the most striking aspects of these burrowed deposits is the strict regularity with which the IHS couplets have been colonized. Almost invariably, each sediment couplet has been colonized through the entire vertical extent of the genetic set. In the rare instances where other ichnotaxa are present, however, the population of *Spirascensus conferti* is significantly reduced. This may reflect very low competitive ability, a predatory relationship or a short-lived change in environmental parameters.

A clear link is observed between the cycle of sedimentation and the dynamics of the trace maker community. In addition to the gradual change in burrow expression within each sediment couplet, and the sharp character change at the contacts between couplets, the density and size of traces are also seen to vary. While some variation takes place within the couplets themselves, changes are most evident at the contacts between **Figure 3.7.** Transitional expression of *S. conferti.* (**A**, **B**) Longitudinal expression in core face. While the sediment has a clear bioturbate fabric, it is difficult to discern between host and burrow fill material. (**C**) Schematic illustrating the juxtaposition of muddy host sediment, muddy burrow fill within a sandy sheath, and sandy burrow fill. (**D**, **E**) Longitudinal expression in thin section. Again, note the juxtaposition of stacked mud packets and sand filled burrows with muddy central spires, illustrating the transition between end member burrow character.



**Figure 3.8.** Characteristics of burrow fabric. (A) Deflection of burrow fabric through crossstratified sediment. The broken white line tracks burrow orientation. (B) Deformation of burrow fabric through compaction and shearing of muddy sediment. (C) Downward deflection of sediment interfaces within burrow fill. Sediment interfaces have been deflected approximately 5 mm (coiled length of juvenile trace makers?) within the burrow fill, implying the upward migration of the trace makers with sediment accumulation.


couplets. Many of these sedimentary contacts are associated with a clear decrease in the size, and increase in the abundance of individual traces (Fig. 3.9). In one example, this change reflects a greater than two-fold increase in population, with a corresponding decrease in burrow width. In many other instances, a gradual decrease in the abundance of traces is seen through the muddy upper portion of a sediment couplet, followed by the reestablishment of populous burrowing within the sandy base of the superjacent couplet.

Population density often approaches the physical limit at which adjacent burrows would interfere with each other. A sampling of burrow density along bedding-normal sections yields typical values of 50 000 – 200 000/ m<sup>2</sup>. Where population density is low, the axes of the traces often deviate from the parallel, surface normal pattern observed with dense populations.

#### DISCUSSION

### **BEHAVIOR OF THE TRACE MAKERS**

#### Helical burrow morphology

Many factors may have played a role in influencing the helical form of the burrows. The possibilities reflect both behavior inherent to the producing organism, and adaptive response to their environment.

With larger helical burrows, such as *Gyrolithes* and *Daimonelix*, the functional morphology of the trace maker's skeleton has been proposed as a possible impetus for the arcuate shape. With occurrences of *Gyrolithes*, inequality in the cheliped size of burrowing decapods has been suggested, with the preference for the use of one cheliped over the other in excavation (Farrow, 1971). This forces the burrow to deviate from a straight form. Similarly, the preference of a burrowing beaver to cock its head to one side while excavating with strokes of its incisors may be behind the curvature of *Daimonelix* (Martin, 1994). *Spirascensus conferti*, however, was most likely created by a soft-bodied



**Figure 3.9.** Interface between successive generations of burrowing. (A) Core face expression associated with a dramatic decrease in the size of the traces, and a 2.2x increase in their density. (B) Thin sectioned example. Location different than (A). While such interfaces are typically seen in association with the succession of muddy sediment by sandy sediment of the subsequent sediment couplet, they are most clearly observed where they occur within the muddy sediment.

worm, and thus would not have been influenced by skeletal morphology.

A helical burrow may have been a behavioral adaptation intended to aid in buffering the burrowing organism from salinity fluctuation in the overlying water column. With such morphology, the trace maker increases the effective contact between its body and the surrounding sediment, maximizing the buffering effect afforded by the comparatively stable sediment pore water. The coiled shape may also prove more difficult to flush through the hydrodynamic action of the water overlying the sediment.

The length of body and burrow that can be fit into a given thickness of sediment is maximized through a coiled habit. This may be of great importance if a limited geochemical window were available for colonization. In coiling, the burrower can maximize its gut and body length to promote efficient digestion and absorption of

nutrients across the body wall. With a helical form, the volume of sediment accessible from a single vertical penetration of the sediment is increased without necessitating an increase in the size of the burrow process itself.

Increased grip on the sediment may be another advantage of a coiled burrow. This would impact the organism's ability to migrate within the burrow and resist extraction under the influence of strong current and predation. The coiled morphology may also improve the burrower's ability to force itself into unburrowed sediment, and manipulate the sediment surrounding its body through constriction and expansion. This may be an effect means by which burrow diameter is expanded to accommodate the introduction of an active fill or lining.

If the migration of pore water through the burrow is taken to be an important process, the coiled form may have implications on the nature of the flow in sand filled burrow segments. The helical form would increase the interaction between the flowing water and the host sediment by maximizing the volume of sand through which water flows, and increasing the surface area of muddy host sediment exposed to the water.

## Separation of the sediment into granular and muddy fractions

In both mud dominated and sand dominated substrates, burrowing has fractionated the sediment into discrete muddy and granular domains. Grain size selectivity in feeding may have contributed to this situation through the separation of an ingested and subsequently extruded mud fraction, and a rejected sand fraction. This process does not, however, explain the grain size distributions observed in thin section. With selective feeding alone, one would expect to see the sand filled burrow segments filled with a "cleaned" equivalent of the host sediment. As noted earlier, however, the sand fill is often notably coarser than the granular component of the hosting mud. The trace maker nay have been acting to promote the flow of pore water through the creation of discrete, permeability pathways. The sediment couplets, as laid down physically,

would have had very low permeability normal to the bedding, owing to the presence of continuous, dense muddy layers. Through burrowing, the sediment has been transformed into network of permeable pathways cutting through the mud beds and dramatically increasing the potential for cross-stratal flow.

The process responsible for this enhanced fractionation of the sediment is somewhat unclear, although it seems apparent that some vertical transport of sand took place. Two possible actions may have been responsible for the vertical transport. The burrower may have transported coarser sand up from the base of the couplet into the muddier upper level. Alternately, it may have actively passed coarse material down into its burrow from the sediment water interface, and allowing finer material to accumulate as the "host" sediment.

Interpreting the presence of the muddy central spire in some variants of the sand filled burrows is somewhat problematic. This feature appears to reflect actively emplaced material, rather than relic host sediment. Central spires typically contain much less granular material than the muddy host sediment, and some are clearly enriched in organic matter. Their presence in some burrows may reflect fecal stowage behavior, an attempt to influence the flow of pore water, or both.

Carbonaceous debris has clearly been subject to preferential incorporation within the burrow fill. This likely reflects preferential feeding on small organic particles (explaining enrichment within muddy burrow fill) and microbes growing on and around larger particles (explaining enrichment within sandy burrow fill). The incorporation of carbonaceous debris may also reflect a gardening behavior, promoting the growth of microbes within the burrow subsequent to the initial sediment processing.

Given the variability in burrow character between sandy and muddy fill, it is likely that the differing expressions of individual *Spirascensus conferti* burrows would be discriminated as separate ichnotaxa if not encountered in such an obviously intergradational relationship.



Figure 3.10. Effect of population density on burrow fabric. (A) In low density communities, the burrows have a substantial horizontal component to their form. Burrows show no organized relationship, and exhibit random avoidance. The horizontal component of the burrows may be focused on nutrient-rich horizons. (B) In high density communities, the burrows display a surface-normal parallel relationship. This organized community structure allows for high population density with minimum interference between individuals.

# Community behavior

The exceptional population densities seen, coupled with the stable and repeated nature of colonization allude to a very rich and stable food source. The absolute dominance of *Spirascensus conferti* suggests a niche environment which was exploited exclusively by a single burrowing organism.

The organized, parallel, surface-normal relationship exhibited by individual traces within the burrow suite indicates a stable, territorial relationship between individual trace makers. Where the trace makers had sufficient real estate, they display a tendency to flatten with depth, perhaps exploiting particularly nutrient-rich horizons. Under the influence of crowding, however, they orient their burrows normal to the sedimentwater interface, a response that allows for maximum population density and minimal interference between neighboring trace makers. (Fig. 3.10). This change in community structure between high and low population densities indicates that the organized, parallel relationship between individuals was a response to a population stress, rather than an inherent behavioral trait of the burrowing organism. Miron et al. (1991) noted a similar

tendency for the polychaete *Nereis virens* to alter its burrow form from U-shaped to I-, L-, or Y-shaped under the influence of high population density.

The increase in density and decrease in size of the traces across discrete horizons is interpreted to reflect the succession of a mature population of burrowers with a fresh juvenile population. The fact that these repopulation events are typically found at the contact between couplets, combined with the evidence for upward migration, indicate that the life dynamics of the burrowers were intricately tied to the cycle of sediment accumulation. A new population was established with the onset of each annual depositional cycle, and burrow aggradation took place to keep pace with sedimentation. The gradual upward increase in size and decrease in density of the traces within a sediment couplet is taken to reflect maturation and attrition of the trace maker community.

# COMPARISON WITH OTHER HELICAL ICHNOFOSSILS

The comparison of *S. conferti* to other helical ichnofossils serves both to support its taxonomic distinction, and illustrate the unique behavior it reflects.

In the past *S. conferti* has been interpreted as a variant of *Gyrolithes* (Bechtel, 1996; Hubbard, 1999). Known occurrences of *Spirascensus conferti* contrasts significantly with published examples of *Gyrolithes* in the scale of the traces. *S. conferti* typically exhibits a burrow process less than 1 mm in diameter, and a whorl diameter of <1-2 mm, while *Gyrolithes* commonly has a shaft diameter of 5-10 mm and a whorl diameter of several cm (e.g. Gernant, 1972; Bromley and Frey, 1974; Wilson, 1985). Even with diminutive variants of *Gyrolithes* encountered in brackish strata of the Mannville Group, whorl diameters typically approach 1 cm (Beynon et al., 1988; Bechtel, 1996). While *S. conferti* reflects the active redistribution of sediment by an upward migrating deposit feeding, or gardening organism, *Gyrolithes* is generated through the passive infill of a domicile excavated down from the sediment surface. *Gyrolithes* is

commonly found in an intergradational relationship with horizontal trace forms (typically *Thalassinoides*), however, no such relationship is seen with *S. conferti*.

Spirophyton is another spiral-form trace known to occur in brackish environments (Miller and Johnson, 1982; Miller, 1991; Ranger, personal communication). The typical size of *Spirophyton* (whorl diameters of 2 - 5 cm) is, however, out of agreement with that seen in *S. conferti*. Additionally, *Spirophyton*'s morphology, with a spreitenated structure spiraling around a vertical axial tunnel, differs from *S. conferti*, which takes the form of a simple coil. As with *Gyrolithes*, *Spirophyton* is created through downward burrowing from the sediment water interface (Miller, 1991).

Lapispira consists of two nested helices joined at the base, and is commonly more than an order of magnitude larger than S. conferti (Lange, 1932).

Helicodromites, Helicolithus and Helicorhaphe are all lengthy, horizontally oriented helical or screw shaped traces expressed in semirelief along cleavage surfaces. They are interpreted to reflect the grazing of mobile deposit feeders. Examples of Helicodromites are larger than Spirascensus conferti, with a 2 mm thick process and approximately 2 whorls per centimeter of length, while Helicolithus and Helicorhaphe are known to be comparable to S. conferti in tunnel and coil diameter (approximately 1 mm and 3 mm respectively). Helicolithus and Helicodromites are graphoglyptid forms, exhibiting a regular meandering course. Helicorhaphe, on the other hand, exhibits a nearly straight course. Spirascensus conferti differs fundamentally from Helicodromites, Helicolithus and Helicorhaphe in its stationary habit, and vertical orientation.

#### INTEGRATED TROPHIC MODEL

By bringing together elements from the depositional environment, morphology and interpreted behavior of *Spirascensus conferti*, a trophic model can be generated to explain the maintenance of such a dense community (Fig. 3.11). The presence of a vegetated supratidal overbank brings two key elements to the model: a source of



Figure 3.11. Integrated trophic model explaining the maintenance of a high density infaunal community within channel bank sediments. (A) Productive pore water flow architecture within the bank. (A1) Water laden with dissolved organic material (DOM) infiltrates the top of the bank. Available oxygen is quickly consumed through the oxidation of a fraction of the DOM. (A2) A hydraulic gradient set up within the channel drives pore water towards the active channel bank. Flow is facilitated through the permiability enhancement of historic Spirascensus conferti burrowing. (A3) Within the surficial layer of the bank sediment, the mingling of DOM-rich pore water and oxygen-rich channel water promotes the growth of bacterial. (B) Burrowing and feeding stages of the S. conferti trace maker. (B1) Fractionation of sediment, and processing of fines. The trace makers may be situated with a heads-down arrangement (a) passing fecal material into the water column, and transporting coarse sand for burrow fill up from depth. Alternately, they may be situated with a heads-up arrangement (b) concentrating fecal material into a central mud spire and passing coarse sand for burrow fill down from the surface. (B2) Gardening of bacteria and absorption of DOM. Pore water rich in DOM and oxygen-rich channel water are mingled through tidal pumping and/or active irrigation by the trace makers, promoting the growth of bacteria. At this stage, the trace makers may be feeding through the direct absorption of DOM. (B3) Cropping of bacteria. The trace makers reprocess the sediment, feeding on bacteria and their secretions.

degradable organic matter, and a mechanism through which pore water flow may be induced. As water is introduced to the top of the bank - either through precipitation or extreme high tides - it infiltrates into the bank carrying with it soluble organic compounds from decaying plant matter. After infiltration, this water rich in dissolved organic matter (DOM), quickly reaches a reduced state through the oxidation of organics. Aided by enhanced permeability generated through *S. conferti* burrowing, and a hydraulic gradient within the bank, the water flows towards the channel. As it approaches the sedimentwater interface at the channel margin, the DOM-rich water is mingled with oxygen-rich channel water through tidal pumping, and possibly active irrigation by the *S. conferti* trace makers. Within the zone of mixing, biotic activity is promoted by the presence of both the degradable DOM and oxygen.

In this model the trace makers active at the point bar surface have access to three food sources: organic detritus deposited with the sediment, DOM introduced through pore water flow, and bacteria feeding on the organic detritus and DOM. The balance between these three sources may vary during the course of a sediment/population cycle due to changing textural character of the accumulating sediment and variation in precipitation (and thus infiltration and pore water flux).

On a fine scale, the action of the burrowing organisms themselves plays a major role in the maintenance of this system, through the generation of permeability pathways across the stratal fabric of the sediment, and the promotion of bacterial growth.

This model is supported by two pieces of circumstantial evidence. First, the extreme population and sessile character of traces are inconsistent with a community supported solely through deposit feeding. A scheme leading to the localized availability of food would seem to fit much better. Secondly, lithologically comparable IHS deposits interpreted to have been deposited in areas with subtidal and intertidal overbank (thus no significant plant growth or pore water flow) exhibit a fundamentally different ichnological signature, dominated by comparatively robust *Planolites* and *Teichichnus*.

### ANALOGOUS MODERN BURROWING AND POSSIBLE TRACE MAKERS

While no modern burrowing directly analogous to *Spirascensus conferti* is known, several benthic organisms exhibit aspects of behavior similar to *S. conferti*, and may adopt a similar life habit under proper conditions.

It has long been speculated that *Gyrolithes* was produced by the burrowing action of decapods (e.g. Gernant, 1972; Bromley and Frey, 1974), but a clear modern analogue was not known until the work of Dworschak and Rodrigues (1997) on the burrowing shrimp *Axianassa australis*. While this has proven irrefutably that some decapods do construct regularly coiled burrows, their size and character are in agreement with *Gyrolithes* rather than *Spirascensus*.

The entrepneust *Saccoglossus* constructs a burrow on the order of 5-10 cm long, the lower portion of which often forms a regular spiral (Horst, 1940; Ruppert and Fox, 1988). Additionally, it is known to colonize the banks of tidal creeks in estuarine environments (Gingras et al, 1999). It is not, however, known to act as a deposit feeder.

Capitellid polychaetes are well known as motile, burrowing deposit-feeders (Fauchald and Jumars, 1979). Three well studied species, *Notomastus lobatus*, *N. latericeus*, *and Heteromastus filiformis*, construct burrows which are partially or completely coiled (Reineck et al., 1967; Powell, 1977; Gingras et al., 1999).

*Notomastus lobatus* makes vertically oriented, coiled burrows (Powell, 1977), while the coiled segment of *N. latericeus* burrows tend to be situated subhorizontally, either at the base of a U-shaped burrow, or extending between pirated burrows (Reineck et al., 1967). The size (with a burrow process on the order of 8 mm thick, and whorls 2-4 cm in diameter) and lack of active fill within the burrows of *Notomastus* render it a poor candidate for constructing *Spirascensus*-like burrows.

The "threadworm" *Heteromastus filiformis* inhabits the banks of intertidal creeks in estuarine settings. It constructs a branched, deeply penetrating burrow network with

subhorizontal, helical terminations (Gingras et al., 1999). The worm itself typically reaches a length of 15 cm and a diameter of approximately 1 mm. H. filiformis densities of greater than 5000/m<sup>2</sup> are not uncommon (Shaffer, 1983). It is a head-down deposit feeder that is well adapted to feeding within deep sulphidic sediments, a setting in which it faces little competition (Neira and Höpner, 1994). It is able to exploit this niche by maintaining contact with the sediment surface, where abundant oxygen is available, and actively irrigating its burrow (Fauchild and Jumar, 1979). Selective feeding by H. filiformis has been demonstrated, with its fecal material enriched over the host sediment in organic content and sediment of silt or finer particle size (Neira and Höpner, 1993). This, coupled with its head-down, surface-defecation habit leads to a vertical transport of sediment, and biogenic sorting. Neira and Höpner (1994) suggested the activity of H. filiformis promotes the growth of bacteria within the sediment, increasing its harvestable nutritive value, and that dissolved organic matter within the pore water may also contribute significantly to its nutritional budget. In a study of the population ecology of *H. filiformis*, Shaffer (1983) found that a discrete spawning event takes place annually. While he observed temporal overlap of the juvenile and adult populations, post-spawning mortality occurs with other polychaetes. Given an unstable, seasonal environment, it seems likely that post-spawning mortality could be induced in H. filiformis as well. Heteromastus filiformis, or a similar "threadworm" polychaete, would be an ideal candidate for making Spirascensus conferti-like burrows under the proper environmental influence.

### CONCLUSIONS

*Spirascensus conferti* exhibits a complex morphology, with its expression varying in concert with changes in sediment character. Its morphology reflects a complex burrowing behavior involving the discrete segregation of muddy and granular fractions of the sediment, apparently to promote the movement of sediment pore water.

The traces are present in organized, parallel communities, interpreted to have arisen as a result of population stress. The life cycle of the trace makers was tied to the sedimentation cycle of the hosting sediment, with discrete repopulation events taking place on an annual basis. Colonization was very stable on an interannual basis, with the burrowing of each successive sediment couplet through the vertical extent of most examined IHS packages. This reflects a stable niche environment exploited by a single burrowing organism, to the exclusion of all others. While the extreme population, diminutive size and niche exploitation of the trace makers are characteristic of an opportunistic life strategy, the high productivity and stability of the hosting environment led to the establishment of a burrowing community that was very stable on an interannual basis.

The trace makers used a unique combination of sedimentological, ecological and hydrogeological conditions to support extreme population density. A beneficial pore water flow architecture - promoted through the burrowing activity of the trace makers themselves - led to a flux of nutrients through the body of the channel bank deposit and into the surficial sediment. This greatly increased the productivity and carrying capacity of the environment.

IHS deposits pervasively burrowed with *Spirascensus conferti* comprise a facies believed to be unique to actively migrating, low energy, tidally-influenced channels with a vegetated overbank. The common association of these deposits with coarse, fluvial sands suggest a depositional setting near the limit of tidal influence, where the alternation between small fluvial and tidal channel systems would be common. This facies therefore carries significant utility in the paleoenvironmental reconstruction of tidally-influenced marginal marine settings.

143

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

#### REFERENCES

- Allen, G.P., H.C. Salomon, P. Bassoullet, Y. du Penhoat and C. de Grandpre, 1980, Effects of tides on mixing and suspended sediment transport in macrotidal estuaries: Sedimentary Geology, v. 26, p. 69-90.
- Bechtel, D.J., 1996, The stratigraphic succession and paleoenvironmental interpretation of the McMurray Formation, O.S.L.O. area, northeastern Alberta: Unpublished M.Sc. thesis, University of Alberta, Edmonton, 153 p.
- Beynon, B.M., S.G. Pemberton, D.D. Bell and C.A. Logan, 1988, Environmental implications of ichnofossils from the Lower Cretaceous Grand Rapids Formation, Cold Lake oil sands deposit: *in* D.P. James and D.A. Leckie (eds.), Sequences, stratigraphy and sedimentology surface and subsurface. Canadian Society of Petroleum Geologists, memoir 15, p. 275-290.
- Bromley, R.G. and R.W. Frey, 1974, Redescription of the trace fossil *Gyrolithes* and taxonomic evaluation of *Thalassinoides*, *Ophiomorpha* and *Spongeliomorpha*:
  Bulletin of the Geological Society of Denmark, v. 23, p. 311-335.
- Carrigy, M.A., 1959, Geology of the McMurray Formation, Part III, general geology of the McMurray area: Alberta Research Council, Memoir I, 130 p.
- Dworschak, P.C. and S. Rodrigues, 1997, A modern analogue for the trace fossil *Gyrolithes* burrows of the thalassinidean shrimp *Axianassa australis*: Lethaia, v.
  30, p. 41-52
- Farrow, G.E., 1971, Back-reef and lagoonal environments of Aldabra Atoll distinguished by their crustacean burrows: Symposia of the Zoological Society of London, v. 28, p. 455-500.
- Fauchald, K., and P.A. Jumars, 1979, The diet of worms a study of polychaete feeding guilds: Oceanography and Marine Biology Annual Review, v. 17, p. 193-284.
  Gernant, R.E., 1972, The paleoenvironmental significance of *Gyrolithes*: Journal of

Paleontology, v. 46, p. 735-741.

- Gingras, M.K., S.G. Pemberton, T. Saunders and H.E. Clifton, 1999, The ichnology of modern and Pleistocene brackish-water deposits at Willapa Bay, Washington variability in estuarine settings: Palaios, v. 14, p 352-374.
- Harris, C.R.E, 2003, Aspects of the sedimentology, ichnology, stratigraphy, and reservoir character of the McMurray Formation, northeast Alberta: Unpublished M.Sc. thesis, University of Alberta, Edmonton, 209 p.
- Horst, C.J. van der, 1940, The enteropneusta from Inyack Island, Delagou Bay: South Afr. Mus. Ann., v. 32, p. 293-380.
- Hubbard, S.M., 1999, Sedimentology and ichnology of brackish water deposits in the Bluesky Formation and Ostracode zone, Peace River Oil Sands, Alberta: Unpublished M.Sc. thesis, University of Alberta, Edmonton, 124 p.
- Lange, W., 1932, Über spirale Wolhngänge, *Lapispira bispiralis* n.g. et n.sp., ein leitfossil aus der Schlotheimien-Stufe des lias Norddeutschlands: Deutsch. Geol. Gesell., Zeitschr., v. 84, p. 537-543.
- Lesourd, S., P. Lesueur, J.C. Brun-Cottan, S. Garnaud, and N. Poupinet, 2003, Seasonal variations in the characteristics of superficial sediments in a macrotidal estuary (the Seine inlet, France): Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, v. 58, p. 3-16.

Martin, L.D., 1994, The Devil's Corkscrew: Natural History, v. 103, p. 59-60.

- Miller, M.F., 1991, Morphology and paleoenvironmental distribution of Paleozoic
   Spirophyton and Zoophycus Implications for the Zoophycus ichnofacies: Palaios,
   v. 6, p. 410-425.
- Miller, M.F., and K.G. Johnson, 1981, Spirophyton in alluvial-tidal facies of the Catskill deltaic complex – possible biological control of ichnofossil distribution: Journal of Paleontology, v. 55, p. 1016-1027.
- Miron, G., G. Desrosiers, C. Retière and R. Lambert, 1991, Évolution spatio-temporelle du réseau de galaried chez le polychète *Nereis virens* (Sars) en relation avec la

densité: Canadian Journal of Zoology, v. 69, p. 39-42.

- Muwais, W., and D.G. Smith, 1990, Types of channel-fills interpreted from dipmeter logs in the McMurray Formation, northeast Alberta: Bulletin of Canadian Petroleum Geology, v. 38, p. 53-63.
- Neira, C., and T. Höpner, 1993, Fecal pellet production and sediment reworking potential of the polychaete *Heteromastus filiformis* show a tide dependant periodicity: Ophelia, v. 37, p. 175-185.
- Neira, C., and T. Höpner, 1994, The role of *Heteromastus filiformis* (Capitellidae, Polychaeta) in organic carbon cycling: Ophelia, v. 39, p. 55-73.
- Pemberton, S.G., P.D. Flach and G.D. Mossop, 1982, Trace fossils from the Athabasca Oil Sands, Alberta, Canada: Science, v. 217, p. 825-827.
- Powell, E. N., 1977, The relationship of the trace fossil *Gyrolithes* (*=Xenohelix*) to the family Capitellidae (Polychaeta): Journal of Paleontology, v. 51, p. 552-556.
- Ranger, M.J. and M.K. Gingras, 2003, Geology of the Athabasca Oil Sands field guide and overview: Canadian Society of Petroleum Geologists, Calgary, 123 p.
- Reineck, H.E., W.F. Gutmann and G. Hertweck, 1967, Das schlickgebiet südlich
  Helgoland als beispiel rezenter Schelfablagerungen: Senckenbergiana Lethaia, v.
  48, p. 219-275.
- Ruppert, E., and R. Fox, 1988, Seashore animals of the southeast a guide to common shallow water invertebrates of the southeastern Atlantic Coast: University of South Carolina Press, Columbia, 428 p.

Shaffer, P.L., 1983, Population ecology of *Heteromastus filiformis* (Polychaeta: Capitellidae): Netherlands Journal of Sea Research, v. 17, p. 106-125.

Smith, D.G., 1987, Meandering river point bar lithofacies models - Modern and ancient examples compared: *in* Etheridge, F.G., R.M. Flores and M.D. Harvey (eds.),
Recent developments in fluvial sedimentology. SEPM special paper #39, p. 83-91.
Thomas, R.D., D.G. Smith, J.M. Wood, J. Visser, E.A. Calverly-Range and E.H. Koster,

1987, Inclined heteolithic stratification – terminology, description, interpretation and significance: Sedimentary Geology, v. 53, p. 123-179.

- Uncles, R.J. and J.A. Stephens, 1993, Nature of the turbidity maximum in the Tamar Estuary, U.K: Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science, v. 36, p. 413-431.
- Wilson, E.C., 1985, The spiral trace fossils *Gyrolithes* de Saporta, 1884, in the Pliocene Tirabuzon Formation near Santa Rosalia, Baja California Sur, Mexico: Bulletin of the Southern California Acadamy of Sciences, v. 84, p. 57-66.

# **CHAPTER 4 - CONCLUSIONS**

Inclined heterolithic strata (IHS) deposits from the McMurray Formation display a substantial range of lithic and ichnologic character. This character is classified in a much more refined way than the classic "sand-dominated" versus "mud-dominated" scheme affords. The distribution and structure of ichnofossils within many IHS occurrences reflect systematic spatial and temporal variation in salinity and turbidity stress. Using a spatio-temporal framework based on the study of modern estuarine systems, deposit character is resolved into a fluvial to marine gradient along a riverine estuary channel.

IHS character falls into a broadly tripartite distribution, with a sand dominated seaward flux in the upper reach, a fine-grained zone of convergent flux in the middle reach, and sand-dominated landward flux in the lower reach. The sand dominated IHS deposits from each end of the system contrast strongly in terms of texture, structure, biogenic signature, and stratal organization. Similarly, fine members from the central portion of the system exhibit a progression of character from dense mud to finely interlaminated sand and mud in a landward direction.

A one-dimensional spatial model for IHS character along a tidal river provides a vector suitable for incorporation in paleogeographic reconstruction of channelized subsystems within the McMurray Formation. This permits more targeted exploration for high grade bitumen deposits, and may aid in the generation of a stratigraphic framework.

The dominant order of cyclicity reflected within the IHS was annual, driven through seasonal change in the dynamics of estuarine water circulation and sedimentation. The effects of semidiurnal, fortnightly and inter-annual cyclicity are locally apparent, but they were of subordinate importance in generating the heterolithic character of the deposits.

Although this model is a powerful tool, its application is not universal within the McMurray Formation. The model characterizes the deposits of the dominant tidal

river channel, but the depositional character of modestly sized tributary systems may exhibit significant deviation from it. Complication is introduced through the influence the dominant system would exert over the dynamics of water circulation and sediment availability in tributary systems. The existence of three distinct provenances that drained into the McMurray Subbasin also adds variability. Systems entering from each of these continental districts would have contrasted in character of introduced sediment, and the dynamics of water influx. Additionally, some IHS-producing environments within the greater estuarine system did not connect to fluvial sources, and thus were not directly influenced by continental drainage.

Thick successions of IHS with broadly consistent character and stratal organization (locally exceeding 40 m) are present within the McMurray Formation. However, few, if any, of these successions are attributable to the migration of a single deep channel. The stacking of thinner genetic units (typically 5 - 15 m thick), many with consistent character between them, is by far the norm.

While megaripple bedded sands are present at the base of IHS successions in several prominent outcrops, the two lithic units were not co-generational. The megarippled sands exhibit several characteristics of higher energy, more marine deposition, and are commonly erosively truncated by the overlying IHS.

An incised valley fill model for the deposition of the IHS provides for a tidy relationship with the inconsistently developed megarippled sands. Such a model may also aid substantially in explaining the deposition of stacked IHS sets exhibiting consistent orientation.

IHS exhibiting an organized fabric of diminutive, helical ichnofossils forms a very distinctive facies within the McMurray Formation. The combined evidence of plant growth on a supratidal bank, the inferred behavior of the trace makers, and the high density of colonization, point to a uniquely structured deposit feeding and/or gardening community. This facies reflects a narrow environmental window, and as such may find

utility in the construction of a paleoenvironmental or stratigraphic framework for the McMurray Formation and equivalent strata.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.